

Australian Government

Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs

Social Policy Research Paper No. 37

Factors associated with relationship dissolution of Australian families with children

PETER BUTTERWORTH¹

TAMAR OZ²

BRYAN RODGERS²

HELEN BERRY²

¹ Centre for Mental Health Research, the Australian National University

² National Centre for Epidemiology and Population Health, the Australian National University

Improving the lives of Australians

© Commonwealth of Australia 2008 ISSN 1833-4369 ISBN 978-1-921380-15-0

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, no part may be reproduced by any process without prior written permission from the Commonwealth available from the Commonwealth Copyright Administration, Attorney-General's Department. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to the Commonwealth Copyright Administration, Attorney-General's Department, Robert Garran Offices, National Circuit, Barton, ACT 2600 or posted at .

The opinions, comments and/or analysis expressed in this document are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the Minister for Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs or the Australian Government Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs, and cannot be taken in any way as expressions of Government policy.

This paper uses the confidentialised unit record file from the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) survey. The HILDA project was initiated and is funded by FaHCSIA and is managed by the Melbourne Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research (MIAESR). The findings and views reported in this paper are exclusively those of the authors and should not be attributed to either FaHCSIA or MIAESR.

Refereed publication

Submissions to the department's Social Policy Research Paper series are subject to a blind peer review.

Acknowledgements

The research reported in this paper was completed under FaHCSIA's Social Policy Research Services contract (2005–08) with the Family and Community Health Research Unit, the Australian National University.

For more information

Research Publications Unit Research and Analysis Branch Australian Government Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs Box 7576 Canberra Business Centre ACT 2610

Phone: (02) 6244 5458 Fax: (02) 6244 6589 Email: publications.research@fahcsia.gov.au

Contents

Executive summary v				
1	Intro	duction	1	
	1.1	Background, objectives and policy relevance	1	
	1.2	Research questions and general strategy	2	
	1.3	Summary	2	
2	Fram	ework for the project	3	
	2.1	General considerations	3	
	2.2	Broad explanations and categories of predictors	4	
	2.3	Theories of marital disruption	5	
	2.4	Considering both members of the couple	6	
3	Prev	ious research findings	9	
	3.1	Methods used in the literature	9	
	3.2	Research findings	9	
	3.3	Summary	12	
4	Data		13	
5	Meth	nods and measures	15	
	5.1	The sample	15	
	5.2	Research strategy	15	
	5.3	The dependent variable	16	
	5.4	Independent variables	16	
6	Resu	lts	21	
	6.1	Descriptive statistics	21	
	6.2	Evidence of spousal concordance	23	
	6.3	Couple-level characteristics predicting marital instability	24	
	6.4	Examining the characteristics of both members of couples	25	
	6.5	Exploring the interaction effects	29	
	6.6	Multivariate model	32	
	6.7	Full model	37	
7	Disc	ussion and policy implications	39	
	7.1	Reviewing the research methods and findings	39	
	7.2	Limitations and future directions	41	
End	Endnotes 43			
Refe	erence	25	45	

List of tables

Table 1:	Summary of variables used in analysis	19
Table 2:	Baseline differences between men and women, in couples with children, that separate	
	or remain intact	22
Table 3:	Partner consistency assessed by logistic regression models and chi-square test of association	23
Table 4:	Results of univariate models showing odds ratio for separation given the presence of the	
	characteristics in at least one partner	24
Table 5:	Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between poor physical	
	functioning and subsequent separation	26
Table 6:	Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between smoking and	
	subsequent separation	26
Table 7:	Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between parental divorce	
	and subsequent separation	27
Table 8:	Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between educational	
	attainment and subsequent separation	28
Table 9:	Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between separation and	
-	marital status (A), relationship duration (B), number of children (C) and age of youngest child (D)) 29
		5

List of tables

Figure 1:	e 1: Percentage of couples separating over two years as a function of men's and	
	women's smoking status	30
Figure 2:	Percentage of couples separating over two years as a function of the characteristics	
	of men's and women's family of origin (parental separation)	31
Figure 3:	Percentage of couples separating over two years as a function of the characteristics	
	of men's and women's level of educational attainment	32

Executive summary

Previous research funded through the Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA) Social Policy and Research Services (SPRS) program has examined family and relationship transitions in Australia. Research seeking to identify the factors associated with marital instability provides an important basis for policy development and service delivery, such as the design and development of appropriate interventions and better targeting of at-risk couples (Hewitt, Baxter & Western 2005; Wolcott & Hughes 1999). This project was conducted in 2005 to investigate the context in which relationship instability occurs, by examining the factors (at the individual, and the couple/family levels) that precede relationship dissolution within Australian families with children. This project seeks to complement the previous research conducted for FaHCSIA, focusing on our areas of expertise such as psychological and physical health and wellbeing.

Previous research has shown that marital instability is associated with factors such as relationship and sexual dissatisfaction, presence of stepchildren, parental divorce, cohabitation prior to marriage, pregnancy prior to marriage, younger age at marriage, the consistency of attitudes between partners, financial and socioeconomic circumstances, educational attainment, negative interactions/behaviour between spouses (such as avoidance, negative reciprocity, and so on), wife's employment, receipt of welfare payments, negative effect or depression, an unhappy childhood, duration of marriage and religiosity (for example, Bradbury & Norris 2005a; Hewitt, Baxter & Western 2005; Karney & Bradbury 1995; Wilson & Waddoups 2002).

A major innovation in this study is our focus on health and health behaviours (though consider research by Bradbury & Norris 1995b, who also looked at health and marital instability). We consider whether mental health problems, impaired physical functioning, hazardous levels of alcohol consumption and smoking are associated with later divorce or separation. The positive association between marriage and health may be attributed to marriage being a deterrent to negative health behaviours and providing an environment supportive of positive behaviours (Umberson 1987). It may also be that an association between health and marital instability reflects processes of social selection or social causation (Amato 2000).

The analysis in this paper is also unique in that it considers data from both spouses. We analyse data from the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) survey and take advantage of the household sampling frame that collects data from multiple household members. This enables assessment of the circumstances of both partners, and an investigation of whether consistency (homogamy) or disparity of characteristics is associated with relationship instability.

Data are from the HILDA survey (release 3.0), a nationally representative household panel survey. The project uses longitudinal data from three waves to investigate the characteristics of couples that separate. The analysis is limited to adult respondents with dependent children, considering couples in both marriage and de facto (common law) relationships. Overall, 1,498 mixed-sex couples were considered, having data available for both spouses and sufficient information across subsequent waves to ascertain if the couples remained together or separated. Having identified intact couples with dependent children at Wave 1, we contrast the initial circumstances of those who remain together with those who separate or divorce. Of the 1,498 couples: 1,384 (92.4 per cent) were classified as intact couples over the three waves of data and 114 (7.6 per cent) had separated.

The analysis confirmed the association between many of the previously mentioned characteristics and marital instability using an Australian sample. At the couple level, simple univariate analysis showed marital stability was associated with physical health, mental health, smoking behaviour, relationship dissatisfaction, life dissatisfaction, receipt of income support, labour force status, financial hardship, educational attainment, religiosity, previous marriage-like relationships, parental divorce, cohabitation prior to marriage, being in a de facto relationship, and short relationship duration. The analysis also found that there was significant spousal concordance or similarity for these characteristics, demonstrating the importance of considering how the characteristics of spouses may combine to influence relationship stability.

Through a series of stepped analyses, we built a model which incorporated important characteristics from a range of different domains and identified a number of significant effects. Couples in which women reported dissatisfaction with their relationship had a much higher risk of subsequent divorce or separation. The effect of women's dissatisfaction subsumed the effect of men's relationship dissatisfaction. De facto couples had a greater risk of separation than married couples, consistent with the existing literature (Bradbury & Norris 2005b). Similarly, parental divorce remained a strong predictor of subsequent own divorce/separation (Amato 2000).

The analysis of health and health behaviours was a focus of this project. While there was no association between alcohol consumption and relationship instability, and the effect of physical functioning was not apparent in the multivariate model, mental health (and life satisfaction which we also considered an alternative measure of the same general construct) was associated with separation/divorce, though the effects were significantly attenuated in the full model. The final analysis suggested that the effects of men's poor mental health and women's dissatisfaction with life were mediated through relationship satisfaction. Across all of the analyses, there was a strong relationship between smoking status and marital instability. There has been little consideration of this effect in the literature. The final multivariate model showed that couples in which women were smokers (regardless of the male partner's smoking status) were at increased risk of divorce or separation. We consider that this reflects the effectiveness of women's smoking as a marker of social and economic disadvantage and adversity.

Finally, we also found a very strong effect of educational disparity on marital instability. Compared to couples in which partners had similar levels of educational qualifications, those couples in which women reported tertiary qualifications and men reported not completing high school had a ten-fold greater risk of divorce/separation. This may reflect two factors. Firstly, women's educational attainment may be a proxy for financial independence and, thus, the opportunity for women to support themselves outside of the marriage. This removes a potential barrier to divorce or separation. Secondly, these couples may experience greater conflict or dissatisfaction within the relationship, perhaps associated with the fact that they are not fulfilling the traditional gendered roles within marriage. Couples showing the opposite pattern of educational attainment (men with tertiary qualifications and women not completing high school) did not demonstrate an increased risk of subsequent marital instability and, if anything, showed somewhat greater than average stability.

In summary, the project demonstrated the need to look beyond financial circumstances and employment characteristics when considering factors associated with marital stability. These results demonstrate the nexus between social policy, public health and health policy.

1 Introduction

1.1 Background, objectives and policy relevance

Previous research funded through the Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA) Social Policy and Research Services (SPRS) program has examined family and relationship transitions in Australia. Gregory and Klug (2003), for example, showed how relationship transitions (and the corresponding movement between different income support payment types) mask the long-term welfare dependency of parenting payment recipients. Bradbury and Norris (2005a) examined the socioeconomic correlates of relationship instability, including income and receipt of income support payments. The aim of the current project is to build on this previous research and examine factors associated with relationship dissolution.

According to recent statistics, 7.4 per cent of the Australian population aged 15 and over are currently divorced. This figure represents a substantial increase from 1976 when just over 2 per cent of the population were divorced (de Vaus 2004). Considering the cohort born in 2000, it is estimated that 32 per cent of their marriages will end in divorce (ABS 2001). Official divorce statistics underrepresent relationship dissolution. Firstly, these figures do not include marriages that end in permanent separation but not divorce (Hewitt, Baxter & Western 2005). Secondly, they do not consider dissolution of cohabiting or de facto couples (an increasingly common form of partnering in Australia). In 2001, 12.4 per cent of couples were in cohabiting relationships are known to be, on average, less stable and more likely to end in separation than marriages (de Vaus 2004). Relationship instability is also an issue with much relevance to the study of child wellbeing. In 2001, 51 per cent of divorces involved children under the age of 18 (de Vaus 2004). This is reflected in the changing demographic characteristics of Australian families. One-parent families with dependent children. Data from the HILDA survey shows that 26.8 per cent of children born between 1976 and 1983 spent some time in a lone-mother family before reaching the age of 18 (de Vaus & Grey 2003, 2004).

Research and policy interest in separation and divorce is driven by a number of factors. For example, policy and research interest in the topic of marital stability is prompted by the strong and well-established association between marital status and physical and mental health, mortality, personal wellbeing, and personal wealth (Joung et al. 1998; Wilson & Waddoups 2002; Wolcott & Hughes 1999). On average, married people are much better off than those who are not married. There is also evidence that outcomes for children from intact families are better than for children who experience divorce/separation (Amato 2000). Receipt of income support or welfare payments is also intertwined with relationship instability given the nature of the eligibility criteria and the socioeconomic correlates and consequences of divorce. Finally, Australian adults report a positive and optimistic view of marriage. According to survey data reported by de Vaus (2004), a considerable majority of people believe that marriage should be for life, that people entering marriage should not consider the possibility of divorce, and that people marrying should intend it to be permanent. Therefore, research and policy seeking to understand ways to increase relationship stability is aligned with public/community views about the importance of marriage.

There are, therefore, many reasons to undertake research seeking to understand how to prevent divorce and strengthen families. Research seeking to understand the factors that lead to marital instability provides an important basis for policy development and service delivery, such as the design and development of appropriate interventions and better targeting of at-risk couples (Hewitt, Baxter & Western 2005; Wolcott & Hughes 1999). There is, however, a need to be mindful of the broader context in which such research takes place and in which it will be interpreted: that is, awareness of conflicting philosophical views (Amato 2000). Some view two-parent families as the basis of society and believe that the increase in single-parent families has contributed to societal problems. The contrasting perspective is that personal fulfilment and development can occur in a variety of family types and that the need for some adults and children to escape from a dysfunctional and harmful environment is even more critical than family type.

1.2 Research questions and general strategy

At the end of their investigation into the welfare dependency of lone-parent families, Gregory and Klug (2003) pose the question of why is there so much relationship instability within the income support system. The current project seeks to investigate the context in which this relationship instability occurs and examine the factors (at the individual, and the couple/family levels) that are associated with relationship dissolution within Australian families with children.

We analyse data from the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) survey and take advantage of the household sampling frame that collects data from multiple household members. This enables assessment of the circumstances of both partners, and investigation of whether consistency or disparity of these characteristics is associated with relationship instability. The project utilises longitudinal data across three waves to undertake a prospective study of couples that separate. The analysis is limited to adult respondents with dependent children and considers couples in both marriage and de facto (common law) relationships.

The primary focus of this report is on couples that separate. Having identified intact couples with dependent children at Wave 1, we contrast the initial circumstances of those who remain together through to Wave 3 with those who separate/divorce.

Unlike the previous SPRS studies, income support receipt (and measures of income and financial circumstances) are not the primary focus of the current analysis, but are simply one of a number of characteristics that are examined. This project seeks to complement the previous research conducted for FaHCSIA by focusing on areas of expertise within the Family and Community Health Unit, such as psychological and physical health and wellbeing.

1.3 Summary

The aim of the current project is to identify the personal factors associated with relationship dissolution and partnering among Australian families to assist in the design and targeting of family, children's and welfare policies.

2 Framework for the project

There are a number of ways to conceptualise the correlates of relationship dissolution, a variety of theoretical frameworks and a number of other important notions that need to be considered. This section will discuss these issues as background information prior to a brief review of previous findings and the presentation of the current results.

2.1 General considerations

An important starting point is to consider the potentially different mechanisms that may explain the differences in health and wellbeing that are associated with marital status. There is a general agreement about two broad processes for health differences between groups: social selection and social causation (Amato 2000; Hope, Rodgers & Power 1999; Wade & Pevalin 2004). When considering transitions both into and out of marriage, it is possible to identify four different mechanisms (after Wilson & Waddoups 2002):

- Those with certain (positive) traits or characteristics are more likely to marry (selected into marriage).
- Marriage has positive effects (social causation).
- Certain (negative) traits or characteristics lead to marital dissolution (selection out of marriage).
- Marital dissolution has a negative impact (social causation).

These explanations are not mutually exclusive as, for example, there is evidence for both social selection and social causation as explanations of elevated psychological distress among those experiencing marital disruption (Amato 2000; Hope, Rodgers & Power 1999; Wade & Pevalin 2004). The differences have broader relevance than just health, and may apply to many different characteristics that precede or change during the course of the marriage/relationships.

A complicating issue when trying to differentiate between explanations of selection and causation relates to the timing of both measurement and the expected effects. The timing of legal divorce lags actual relationship dissolution and, similarly, separation is likely to follow a period characterised by marital dissatisfaction, conflict and negative interpersonal interactions (Wade & Pevalin 2004). Thus, characteristics observed prior to the actual date of separation and/or divorce may not necessarily be causal factors or even precede the onset of marital difficulties, but could represent the adverse consequences of the process of separation. For instance, Wade and Pevalin (2004) found anticipatory psychological distress at least two years prior to separation/divorce (see also Hope, Rodgers & Power 1999).

As in all social research, there is a need to be mindful of the distinction between correlations, and direct and indirect effects when interpreting results. An association between a particular characteristic (for example, parental divorce) and marital disruption does not necessarily indicate a causal link. The relationship could simply reflect the clustering of characteristics (both observed and unobserved), such that the variable being examined is a marker of another characteristic that is causally related to marital instability. For example, the relationship between experience of parental divorce and one's own relationship instability may simply be a consequence of general societal changes and cohort differences which make both parental divorce and own relationship instability much more common among younger people. Alternatively, the relationship observed between a particular characteristic and marital instability may be mediated (have its effect) through other variables (such as the effect of parental divorce being mediated through one's attitude towards marriage). To disentangle these effects, research:

- needs to move away from cross-sectional correlational studies
- must consider both simple and multivariate analyses
- must undertake more sophisticated statistical modelling (see Karney & Bradbury 1995).

With a focus on policy relevance, research needs to consider the factors associated with marital/relationship disruption at both the macro and micro levels, and the interaction between factors at different levels, to ascertain the drivers of instability and leverage points for interventions both within and outside of the marriage. An appropriate intervention could be any systematic attempt to address underlying causes of relationship instability, whether through the provision of individual counselling or relationship therapy, or macro-economic or welfare reforms designed to reduce pressures on families that may be a catalyst for relationship instability. Butterworth and Berry (2004) demonstrated the application of such a framework to identify the range of options and relevant stakeholders in the context of promoting employment opportunities for welfare recipients with mental health problems.

Finally, there are a variety of different outcome measures used in the existing literature, and different ways of measuring the same construct. For example, a number of the theories that will be discussed later consider the association between marital quality/satisfaction and marital disruption (Karney & Bradbury 1995). While there is a moderate relationship between these variables, marital dissatisfaction does not perfectly predict disruption and other factors are needed to enable accurate prediction. Karney and Bradbury identified over 30 measures of marital satisfaction or marital quality in their 1995 review. These included measures based on self-report, consistency of partner's reports, multi-dimensional multi-item scales, or single item scales. Similarly, relationship instability can be defined as legal divorce, separation (which may not be permanent), or based on reports that couples have considered divorce. Relationship instability can be defined to only include the dissolution of legal marriages or may also consider the separation of couples previously in de facto relationships.

Within the disciplines of sociology and demography there is much more of a focus on relationship duration (using techniques such as survival analysis; for example, Hewitt, Baxter & Western 2005). Other sophisticated approaches, such as considering intra-couple variability, structural equation modelling, or latent growth models (examining the dynamic nature of marital satisfaction across relationship duration) are very rare within the literature. Decisions made about the measurement and definition of constructs and analytic techniques have implications for the results, interpretation and comparability of studies. In this analysis, we focus on the separation of couples with dependent children in either marriage or de facto relationships (for a similar approach, see Bradbury & Norris 2005a, 2005b; Ostermann, Sloan & Taylor 2005). We use the terms 'instability', 'disruption', 'separation' or 'dissolution' interchangeably to reference the same concept. Similarly, in general discussion we use the term 'marital disruption', while strictly speaking we are considering the dissolution of both marriage and de facto relationships.

2.2 Broad explanations and categories of predictors

A wide variety of variables have been examined as potential predictors or correlates of marital disruption. Amato and Previti (2003) differentiated between sociological (such as broader structural and life course factors) and psychological factors (including interpersonal interactions, conflict management, and personal characteristics such as negative affect). In a similar way, Wolcott and Hughes (1999) drew a distinction between demographic/life course factors (including early age of marriage, cohabitation prior to marriage, pre-marital pregnancy, educational attainment, income, experience of parental divorce) and factors associated with personal preparation or competency to fulfil a marital role and/or to resolve conflict within the marriage (poor communication skills, incompatibility, infidelity, mental health problems, role conflict, personality). In their analysis of Wave 1 HILDA survey data, Hewitt, Baxter and Western (2005) categorised social correlates of marital dissolution under four general headings:

- temporal factors (cohort, age, relationship duration)
- life course (family background, relationship history)
- attitudinal (for example, gender roles, religious beliefs)
- socioeconomic factors.

Given the extensive literature and claims about the health effects of marriage, it is surprising that there is little research examining health and health behaviours as possible determinants of marital dissatisfaction and marital disruption (Fu & Goldman 2000; Joung et al. 1998; Wilson & Waddoups 2002). This represents a key aspect of our current analysis. The inclusion of measures of health is not only relevant to the personal or psychological approach of studying marital dissolution, but is also relevant for sociological or demographic analysis (supporting the identification of trends associated with population changes over time). In their study, Fu and Goldman (2000) used a broad conceptualisation of health to enable the identification of indirect associations between health and marital instability (such as through smoking behaviour and alcohol consumption). We adopt a similar approach.

2.3 Theories of marital disruption

The rise in the divorce rate corresponds with many social and cultural changes. The context in which we examine the drivers of marital instability can be characterised by:

- greater choice (in all domains of life including relationships, family formation, and career)
- Increasing expectations from marriage
- greater social acceptance of divorce
- the greater economic independence of women and declining earnings of men with low levels of educational attainment
- the availability of social welfare
- (possibly) a greater range of stresses impacting on families (Amato 2000; Wolcott & Hughes 1999).

A significant limitation of the research area that many researchers have commented on is the lack of adequate theoretical models to guide research (for example Wilson & Waddoups 2002). Although there is a considerable body of research, much of it is atheoretical and has assessed direct effects, rather than considering mediating or intervening variables. Karney and Bradbury (1995) discuss how the lack of a unifying theoretical basis prevents the development of specific and testable hypotheses, and makes it difficult to refine or build on previous research findings. In fact, given that the body of research crosses several disciplines, the lack of an organising theoretical framework makes it doubly difficult to integrate research data into a coherent knowledge base and to understand the nature of the relationship between different predictors (that is, moving beyond single risk-factor studies). Developing an understanding of why and how marriages succeed or fail requires us to integrate the empirical data that are available.

A number of theories incorporate broad economic or social psychology principles to posit marital dissolution as a process of rational choice, an analysis of costs and benefits, or bartering. Similar to marriage-market models of relationship formation (Becker 1973, 1974), these theories suggest that marital dissolution involves decisions about whether the utility derived from remaining married is greater than the utility anticipated from divorcing and possibly remarrying (Becker, Landes & Michael 1977; Fu & Goldman 2000). Levinger's social exchange theory (Levinger 1965, 1976) explicitly identifies the role of factors both within and external to marriage. Marital success or failure is based on the couple evaluating and balancing the attractions provided by the relationship, the barriers to leaving the relationship (including external factors such as social norms) and the presence of attractive alternatives outside of the relationship. Importantly, this model posits that marital satisfaction and marital stability may, in some circumstances, be unrelated dimensions. Unsatisfying marriages may remain intact in the absence of alternatives and/or the presence of significant barriers to leaving the relationship.

Karney and Bradbury (1995) identify three other significant theoretical perspectives that have influenced research and thinking on marital instability. **Behavioural theory** (Bradbury & Fincham 1992; Gottman 1979) is an approach that focuses on the interdependency between spouses, evaluating the interpersonal exchange of

behaviours and attributions made when interpreting spouses' behaviour. The model is based on the view that one's cognitive responses affect marriage through their influence on subsequent interactions and, as such, is a dynamic model. The behavioural model includes only limited consideration of the influence of external factors. In contrast, **attachment theory**, based on the research of Bowlby (1969) with infants and extended by Hazan and Shaver (1987) to adult relationships, identifies consistent and enduring relationship styles that influence marital quality and stability. While this model captures the influence of enduring vulnerabilities, it lacks a dynamic element to model change within and between couples over time. Finally, Karney and Bradbury identify **crisis theory** as another key theoretical perspective on marital instability (Burr 1982; McCubbin & Patterson 1982). This model focuses on the effect of external events on the processes within and between spouses. It considers how couples adapt to external events based on the resources available and how they define/perceive the event.

According to Karney and Bradbury, the three criteria by which the adequacy of theoretical models in the area should be evaluated are whether they:

- Incorporate a full range of possible predictors of marital outcomes and provide links between different levels of analysis
- specify mechanisms of change within marriage
- account for variability in marital outcomes between couples and within couples over time.

They developed a **vulnerability-stress-adaptation** model of marriage that incorporated aspects of each of the models discussed above into a unified framework to model:

- change and interactions
- the role of external events and adaptation
- the influence of stable characteristics and prior experience
- dynamic interactions between different aspects.

This discussion of theoretical models highlights the broad range of variables considered in the research literature and the variety of models required to understand the causes of relationship instability.

It is also important to recognise that, at the level of individual risk factors and individual studies, there are a variety of explanations/theories used to explain the effects of each of the correlates of marital instability. For example, de Vaus, Qu and Weston (2003) discussed three explanations for the robust and somewhat counterintuitive findings of less stability among couples that cohabit prior to marriage. These explanations include selection effects, with couples who choose to cohabit being different in other important ways from couples who have a 'direct' marriage. This may involve having more unconventional backgrounds, or attitudes or values that are associated with reduced marital stability. Secondly, the experience of cohabitation may change the couples' attitudes or behaviours in a way that decreases the stability of their marriage. Finally, it may be that apparent greater relationship instability is simply a measurement artefact, and that differences are not evident if one considers overall relationship length (combining length of marriage and prior cohabitation) when comparing the relative stability of direct and indirect marriages.

2.4 Considering both members of the couple

Another theme in the literature is the need to consider data from both members of a couple and examine the joint effects of characteristics, traits and behaviours on relationship stability (Ostermann, Sloan & Taylor 2005). The psychological/behavioural research is explicitly concerned with the interaction between partners. However, in other domains there is less focus on how the characteristics of each member of a couple are related to marital instability, particularly in survey research in which data is often only available from a single member of the couple. There is also ambiguity about the types of predictions one would make concerning the combination of partners' characteristics. At the simplest level, the separate consideration of men's and women's characteristics and how they relate to marital instability enables investigation of gender-specific effects (that is, whether the association between a characteristic and relationship instability differs by gender). There is some limited evidence, for example, that men's employment and level of income is related to marital instability, whereas for women these characteristics are not as strongly related to marital instability (Karney & Bradbury 1995).

A somewhat more sophisticated level of analysis involves considering spouse similarity for particular characteristics. For example, theories of homogamy predict that relationship stability is tied to the consistency or similarity between partners. In contrast, heterogamy within couples is considered a source of conflict, dissonance and power imbalance, and, therefore, associated with greater relationship instability (Becker, Landes & Michael 1977; Bumpass, Martin & Sweet 1991; Karney & Bradbury 1995). Consistent with this, retrospective reports by individuals post-separation show that incompatibility is perceived to be one of the major causes of divorce (Amato & Previti 2003; Wolcott & Hughes 1999).

The question of why spouses are more similar than would be expected by chance has been examined in a number of research fields and for a variety of observable and latent characteristics. Research has shown:

- strong correlations between spouses in age, political and religious attitudes
- moderate correlations in educational achievement, intelligence, cognitive ability and physical characteristics (height, BMI, attractiveness, health, diseases and chronic conditions, mental health, substance use disorders)
- relatively low or weak correlations between spouses for personality traits and temperament.

(See, for example: Dubuis-Stadelmann et al. 2001; Galbaud du Fort, Kovess & Boivin 1994; Hippisley-Cox et al. 2002; Silventoinen et al. 2003; Thiessen, Young & Delgado 1997; Wilson 2002.)

There are a number of explanations of why spouses may be similar. Initial similarity may be due to direct or primary assortative mating (Galbaud du Fort, Kovess & Boivin 1994; McLeod 1995) with partner selection on the basis of the characteristics under investigation. It may be a secondary consequence of selection for other characteristics which themselves are associated with the characteristics in question. Alternatively, similarity may be a consequence of social stratification in that the cultural, social and geographic structures that constrain partner selection also explain the similarity evident in a range of characteristics.

Others disagree with the notion that heterogamy is associated with relationship instability. According to such views, the characteristics present at the time of marriage form part of the decision to marry. Therefore, any mismatch of characteristics should have little impact on later divorce as these pre-existing characteristics have already been traded in the marriage market with decisions made on the basis of the relative attractiveness of each partner (Wilson & Waddoups 2002). Accordingly, the effect of partner mismatch on marital stability may be considered more a consequence of the inadequacy of the initial matching process. Marital stability is, therefore, associated with marital search and the adequacy of mate selection, pointing to the need to consider courtship and relationship origins within research into relationship instability (Becker, Landes & Michael 1977; Ostermann, Sloan & Taylor 2005; Zimmer 2001). An exception would be where the characteristics were not obvious and not recognised at the time of marriage and, according to the theorists, such circumstances should be associated with early separation (Wilson & Waddoups 2002).

Alternatively, analysis may focus on the effect of change within the relationship. A change in a partner's characteristics could alter the balance of attractions and barriers that were negotiated when establishing the relationship. However, changes in both members of a couple (for example, declining health with ageing) may not alter relationship stability, as changes to both self and partner influence both attractions and barriers (Wilson & Waddoups 2002). While the dynamic nature of the relationship may be a critical consideration, it has not been studied in depth.

Thus far, our discussion of couple data has been limited to the effects of consistency or discrepancy. In their review, Karney and Bradbury (1995) suggest that the effects of discrepancy are generally explained when

controlling for the initial levels (or main effects) of the variables. It is possible, however, that in the process of partner selection, characteristics associated with marital instability are also matched. It is unclear what the effect of the combination of such risk factors within the relationship may be. An example is found with mental health problems, which are known to be similar between partners (Butterworth & Rodgers 2006) and also to be associated with marital instability (Hope, Rodgers & Power 1999). Is there a threshold effect? (In other words, does the mere presence of the risk factor—mental illness—increase the risk of divorce regardless of whether it is experienced by one or by both partners?) Is the effect additive (do couples where both partners report mental health problems have twice the risk of instability as couples in which only one partner has a mental health problem)? Is there an interactive effect (are couples in which both partners report mental health problems at a greater or lesser risk of relationship instability than would be expected based on the two main effects)? Data from Merikangas (1984) were interpreted as supportive of the latter explanation, showing that couples in which both partners have a clinical psychiatric disorder had a much greater rate of divorce.

There is a need to also recognise that in some instances partner selection and relationship stability may not be based on consistency but on the complementary nature of spouse characteristics (Ostermann, Sloan & Taylor 2005). From a health perspective, the presence of two initially healthy spouses provides redundancy in the relationship. In the event of illness to one partner, the well spouse can provide support and the inputs required within the household (Merikangas 1984). Thus, such consistently healthy couples have a practical advantage over couples with initially disparate health characteristics. The similarity between spouses may not reflect initial matching, but may be a consequence of the influence of common lifestyle risk factors occurring after marriage (such as the adverse health effects of smoking), the effect of shared environmental exposures (same food, same pollution) or could be a direct effect of the ill health of one spouse upon the previously healthy spouse, such as through contagion, the burden of care, or stress (psychologically and financially) from fulfilling the roles normally attributed to two persons (Galbaud du Fort, Kovess & Boivin 1994; McLeod 1995).

Thus, the ways in which the characteristics of each member of a couple combine to effect relationship instability is an important issue, though the exact nature of the effect is uncertain and is likely to differ for different characteristics.

3 Previous research findings

In this section we provide an overview of the existing literature as a basis for understanding the current study.

3.1 Methods used in the literature

Despite repeated claims in the literature of a lack of longitudinal research in the area, and calls for further longitudinal evidence examining marital instability, Karney and Bradbury identified 115 international longitudinal studies in their review of the literature in 1995. Many more longitudinal studies have been conducted subsequent to their review.

A more significant limitation in the previous literature is the inadequacy of the analytical methods used. In their review, Karney and Bradbury noted that the majority of studies use simple (and often inappropriate) statistical techniques to analysis longitudinal data, including simple correlations or t-tests/analysis of variance. The benefit of having longitudinal data is the ability to take account of time, process and change and to move beyond cross-sectional analysis (Wilson & Waddoups 2002). Our analysis, following the methods of Wilson and Waddoups and many others, uses a relatively modest prospective approach of examining the extent to which baseline characteristics predict subsequent marital dissolution. In addition, we also consider the separate and interacting characteristics of spouses. This somewhat limited approach is necessary given the timeframe of the study (only three waves of data provide limited opportunity to model change over time). As such, we do not employ a dynamic model assessing the effect of change. It is also important to recognise limitations in the types of characteristics we can examine. Some of the measures examined in the literature are drawn from different types of studies, such as observational studies (particularly relevant to the psychological literature examining patterns of spousal interactions and behaviours) and studies in which people who have divorced report retrospectively on the reasons for relationship dissolution. As a result of our use of longitudinal survey data, certain topics are outside the scope of the project.

3.2 Research findings

Hewitt, Baxter and Western (2005) noted that there is only limited Australian research examining marriage dissolution, and that the existing literature is largely concerned with demographic characteristics. Nonetheless, there is a considerable body of international research relevant to our study. Local research may be particularly important when seeking to understand the finer detail of the policy context and the role of specific local cultural factors (that is, greater levels of cohabitation in Australia than in the United States). Given that this project is relatively broad in its scope, this is not considered to be critical.

A range of macro-level factors that may be associated with the increase in divorce have been identified in the literature including: changes to the legal process of divorce, the economic cycle, the changing importance of the family unit, gender roles, and changing cultural norms (Wilson & Waddoups 2002; Wolcott & Hughes 1999). At the micro-level, Wilson and Waddoups (2002) noted that the presence of stepchildren, parental divorce, cohabitation prior to marriage, pregnancy prior to marriage, younger age at marriage, and younger age overall are characteristics associated with greater marital instability. In contrast, the presence of children within the home is associated with increased marital stability. In their overview of the literature, Karney and Bradbury (1995) made similar observations. They reported that the factors associated with marital stability include relationship and sexual satisfaction, consistency of attitudes between partners, older age at marriage, higher income (but only husband or overall family income), and level of educational attainment. Karney and Bradbury also noted that the characteristics of couples in unstable relationships include reported parental divorce, negative interactions/behaviour between spouses (such as avoidance, negative reciprocity, and so on), premarital pregnancy, wife's employment, receipt of welfare payments, negative affect or depression, an unhappy childhood, and premarital cohabitation.

Our discussion began with reference to the research of Gregory and Klug (2003), which demonstrated relationship instability among welfare recipients. Bradbury and Norris (2005b) focused on the role of financial and socioeconomic correlates of marital instability, examining welfare receipt and household income. Using the HILDA survey data and FaHCSIA's Longitudinal Data Set (LDS), they found an income gradient in rates of separation. These effects were only partially explained by demographic characteristics (such as marital status, education, number of children) and health and attitudinal variables. Thus, financial circumstances exert an effect on relationship instability over and above that mediated through (physical and mental) health and relationship satisfaction.

Hewitt, Baxter and Western (2005) examined factors associated with marital instability using Wave 1 data from the HILDA survey. Their retrospective analysis showed that rates of marital disruption increase and peak in the first five years of marriage, and then decline at a decreasing rate. The respondents identified as divorced or separated were differentiated from those who were married by birth cohort (earlier cohorts had lower risk of marital disruption than more recent birth cohorts), experience of parental divorce, cohabitation prior to marriage, and having a child prior to marriage. Marital stability was associated with the birth of a child within marriage, older age at marriage and religiosity (reporting that religion was important in their life). For men, higher levels of educational attainment were associated with greater marital stability. For women, however, those with tertiary qualifications had greater marital instability. In addition, women born overseas in an English-speaking country had an increased risk of marital instability.

Our focus on health and health behaviours is unusual, particularly in Australian research on marital instability (though consider Bradbury & Norris 1995b). The positive association between marriage and health is, in part, attributed to marriage being seen as a deterrent to negative health behaviours and providing an environment supportive of positive behaviours (Umberson 1987).

We have already mentioned the literature examining the association between mental health/psychological distress and marital instability. The evidence supports both selection and causation explanations (Hope, Rodgers & Power 1999; Wade & Pevalin 2004). Of course, it may be that the apparent selection into marital instability of those with mental illness reflects underlying factors associated with poor mental health such as financial hardship and socioeconomic disadvantage, and relationship conflict. At the couple level, Merikangas (1984) suggested the effects of mental illness are multiplicative, with rates of instability disproportionately greater when both partners experience mental illness, compared to the risk when only a single partner is ill. In terms of gender differences, Bradbury and Norris (2004) found that couples in which men's mental health was poorer than their partner's mental health had greater risk of relationship instability.

There is less evidence of an association between physical health and marital instability. Fu and Goldman (2000) found no evidence that physical health was associated with subsequent relationship instability, though it must be recognised that the sample used in the analysis was relatively young (the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth which tracked over 14 years people aged 14 to 22 years at the initial interview). In contrast, Joung et al. (1998) found that married individuals who reported poor health (either subjective health complaints or multiple chronic medical conditions) were significantly more likely to become divorced over a four year follow-up period than those who did not report poor health. Their study analysed data representing respondents across the entire life course (aged 15–74 years). At the other end of the age spectrum, Wilson and Waddoups (2002) reported analysis of the US Health and Retirement Survey and found that health mismatches between spouses was associated with later marital instability, but only for those couples that initially reported satisfaction with the relationship. Joung et al. (1998) noted that the measures of health used were associated with other factors such as education, demonstrating why one must be cautious when interpreting any observed association between health and marital instability.

Alcohol consumption is associated with marital status in cross-sectional data (Fu & Goldman 1996; Power, Rodgers & Hope 1999). Heavy levels of alcohol consumption are associated with marital dissatisfaction, negative interactions, and violence (Marshal 2003), but again the issue of the causal direction of the relationship is critical. Marital instability may be a precipitating factor in harmful alcohol consumption (Power, Rodgers & Hope 1999). In analysis of data from the US Health and Retirement Survey similar to that we are undertaking, Ostermann, Sloan and Taylor (2005) found evidence that couples discordant in drinking behaviour at Wave 1 were more likely to divorce (the couples more likely to separate were: wife abstainer and husband heavy drinker; and wife moderate drinker and husband abstainer). There was, however, no evidence of a main effect of alcohol consumption—that is, heavy drinkers did not report elevated divorce rates compared with others. Again, the restricted older age range of the sample may be contributing to the particular pattern of results observed.

Finally, just as data show that, on average, those who are married have better health than those who are not married, marriage is also associated with non-smoking and smoking cessation (Chandola, Head & Bartley 2004; Siapush & Borland 2001). The relationship between smoking and marital status may reflect the availability of support, social regulation and control from one's spouse (Nystedt 2006). Rates of smoking and the success of attempts to cease smoking are influenced by spouse smoking habits, while women (and to a lesser extent men) with a smoking spouse are at increased risk of commencing or returning to smoking (Daly et al. 1993; Homish & Leonard 2005; Severson et al. 1995).

Smoking provides an interesting illustration of how health and health behaviours may be related to marital disruption. Whereas smoking was once normative behaviour, with increasing awareness of adverse health effects smoking has become a marker of disadvantage, including material, social, cultural and regional disadvantage, low education and low socioeconomic status (Graham 1995; Graham et al. 2006; Laaksonen et al. 2005; Nystedt 2006; Rahkonen, Laaksonen & Karvonen 2005). Some argue that smoking is a form of self-medication, with the biological effects of nicotine being used to relieve the distressing effects of mental illness, economic hardship and social isolation (see Nystedt 2006). Graham (1995) identified four factors influencing women's smoking behaviour: daily caring responsibilities and paid work; material circumstances; social support and social networks; and personal and health resources. She concluded that for many low-income women, the experience of severe economic pressures, adverse social relationships and significant caring responsibilities completely taxed their adaptive capacity. Thus, within such a socioeconomic environment, the potentially adaptive nature of smoking can be recognised. In more recent research, Graham et al. (2006) have shown how women's smoking status is sensitive to a range of measures of the socioeconomic life course, including not only childhood social background, educational achievement and occupational status, but also characteristics reflecting the socioeconomic position of women's domestic circumstances, including relationship characteristics.

Little is known, however, about the dynamic relationship between smoking and marriage, such as whether change in marital status is related to smoking behaviour or change in smoking behaviour is related to change in marital status. McKee et al. (2003) found that negative change in financial circumstances (a characteristic often linked to marital disruption) was associated with women's smoking behaviour, with a reduction in rates of quitting and higher relapse rates than for men in similar circumstances. Nystedt (2006) reported that marital disruption was associated with relapse or commencing smoking, and that the effect was stronger for women than for men. Unlike these studies, which identify social stressors as leading to increased rates of smoking, Fu and Goodman's (2000) analysis of younger adults showed that smoking (measured prior to marriage) was associated with an increased risk of later divorce, with rates particular elevated for male smokers. In their discussion, Fu and Goodman express uncertainty about whether smoking may be the cause of conflict among couples, or whether the association between smoking and marital instability reflects underlying characteristics of smokers, such as poorer quality marriages or greater levels of deprivation. We think the association is likely to reflect the effectiveness of smoking as a marker of disadvantage and hardship (economic, psychological and social). In this way, we think the association between smoking and marital instability may be similar to the relationship between welfare receipt and marital instability discussed by Gregory and Klug (2003) and Bradbury and Norris (2005b). In our analysis we will consider whether the relationship between smoking and marital instability is explained by measures of financial circumstances.

3.3 Summary

We have outlined the variables that we will be examining in our prospective study of marital disruption using HILDA survey data. We feel that the study makes a significant contribution to the literature through the:

- breadth of the study and range of predictors examined
- survey sample, which covers the full adult life span and avoids the limitations of many of the previous studies (exclusively young or older populations)
- consideration of health and health behaviours in addition to social and demographic characteristics
- inclusion of the characteristics of both spouses and the interaction between spouses
- focus on longitudinal data.

Data are from the HILDA survey (release 3.0), a nationally representative household panel survey. The HILDA survey is funded by FaHCSIA and managed by a consortium led by the Melbourne Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research at the University of Melbourne. The survey utilises a multi-stage sampling approach (sampling households within Census Collection Districts) and is stratified by state and part-of-state. Data are collected annually and this analysis is based on the first three waves of data (2001, 2002 and 2003).

Four survey instruments were included in each wave. A *Household Form* and *Household Questionnaire* were completed during a personal interview with one adult member of each household. The *Person Questionnaire*, also administered by personal interview, was conducted with all adult household members. Finally, a *Self-Completion Questionnaire* (SCQ) was provided to all respondents to the *Person Questionnaire* and was collected at a later date or returned by post.

In Wave 1, a total of 7,682 households responded to the survey (a household response rate of 66 per cent). Within these households, there were 15,127 eligible adults. Of this group, 13,969 (92 per cent) completed the *Person Questionnaire* and 13,055 (86 per cent) completed and returned an identifiable SCQ.

Of the 13,969 respondents at Wave 1, 11,993 were re-interviewed in Wave 2 and 11,190 were re-interviewed in Wave 3. The attrition rate (excluding those respondents who were out of scope) was 13.2 per cent for Wave 2 and 9.6 per cent for Wave 3. At the household level, 78.6 per cent of households were fully responding households at Wave 2 (that is, all eligible members completed interviews) and 8.5 per cent were partially responding households. At Wave 3 the corresponding figures were 74.5 per cent and 7.4 per cent.

For more information on the HILDA survey, see Watson (2005), and Watson and Wooden (2002).

14 Social Policy Research Paper No. 37

5 Methods and measures

5.1 The sample

The initial phase of the project involved matching the data from survey respondents who were married or in a de facto relationship at Wave 1. We then tracked these couples (pairs of respondents) across the subsequent waves of data. Our initial sample included 1,922 different-sex couples (3,844 men and women). For all couples, both partners reported that they were in a relationship (either legal marriage or de facto relationship), both partners were resident in the same household, and there were resident dependent children (under the age of 15).

We filtered the sample by excluding those couples in which either partner was a non-responding person or who did not complete the SCQ (given that many measures used in the analysis were derived from the SCQ) at Wave 1, and those couples for which no information was available in subsequent waves. This reduced the effective sample to 1,498 couples.

Two measures were used to identify couples that had separated after Wave 1:

- an indirect measure based on a discrepancy in household (that is, male and female were residing in different households in subsequent wave/s)
- a direct measure based on reported marital status.

Of the 1,498 couples: 1,384 (92.4 per cent) were classified as intact couples over the three waves of data and 114 (7.6 per cent) were identified as couples that had separated or divorced.

5.2 Research strategy

We adopted a systematic approach in our analysis, which proceeded through a series of steps.

- 1) Initially, we examined the presence of spousal similarity or concordance for each of the characteristics under investigation.
- 2) We tested whether there was a general association between the presence of each characteristic within a couple (reported by either one or both partners) and subsequent separation/divorce using simple logistic regression models.
- 3) Where an association was demonstrated, we examined the specific nature of the relationship between the characteristic and subsequent separation: does the greater risk of separation reflect the male's and/or the female's characteristics (main effects); is there an interaction or cumulative effect of partners' characteristics?
- 4) Finally, we developed a multivariate logistic regression model in which we sequentially include the characteristics in five blocks. We used the results of the previous analyses to guide decisions about the specific terms to incorporate (for example, interaction effects, global couple effects if there were high levels of similarity between partners, and so on). The categories into which measures were grouped were: family background, financial circumstances, relationship characteristics, social circumstances, and personal characteristics.

5.3 The dependent variable

Relationship dissolution was coded 'o' if the couple remained intact across the three survey waves and '1' if the relationship ended in separation or divorce.¹

5.4 Independent variables

Table 1 summarises the independent variables used in the analysis. All independent variables were derived from the Wave 1 survey data. We adopt a public health/risk-factor approach in our analysis and focus on categories of the independent variables that represent clinically-relevant conditions and/or the presence or absence of an important characteristic.

Personal characteristics

- Age: a continuous variable with a range of 19–75 years for men and 17–66 years for women. Age is both a personal feature and an indicator of temporal circumstances and cohort membership.
- ▶ Poor physical functioning: based on the physical functioning scale from the SF-36, which was scored using the standard scoring procedure. The scale was based on 10 items inquiring about ability to perform everyday physical activities during the four weeks prior to answering the questionnaire (for example, bathe and dress independently; lift or carry groceries, and so on). Scores on this scale range from o-100. As in our previous research, we define 'poor physical functioning' as a score under 60 on the scale. This variable is used in the model as either 'o' (scores of 60 or more) or '1' (scores under 60).
- Poor mental health: As discussed, according to the theories of social selection, poor mental health may precede and be a factor leading to marital disruption: that is, people's mental health problems increase the likelihood that they will experience relationship instability (that is, selection out of marriage). In contrast, social causation or stress theories posit that psychological distress is a consequence of relationship dissolution (though this distress may have been present for a number of years prior to the eventual act of separation) or other secondary factors associated with divorce such as financial hardship.

The measure of mental health used in the current analysis is based on the mental health inventory, a five-item scale from the SF-36. The individual items inquire about mood and feelings during the four weeks prior to answering the questionnaire (for example, 'Have you felt down?', 'Have you been a happy person?'). Possible scores range from o-100. As in our previous research, we define 'poor mental health' as a score under 50 (coded 'o' for scores of 50 or more and '1' for scores under 50).

- **Risk behaviours:** We considered smoking and alcohol consumption. These can be considered measures of health status in that they have a negative impact on individual health, can be considered a response to adverse life circumstances (a form of self-medication in response to adversity including relationship difficulties), and can be considered a measure of personal preferences, attitudes and/or values.
 - Smoking: We distinguished current smokers (coded as '1') from non-smokers (coded 'o'). The non-smoker category included those who had never smoked and former smokers.
 - Alcohol consumption: The drinking measure was based on two items included in the SCQ measuring frequency and quantity of alcohol consumption. These two factors were combined to estimate average weekly alcohol consumption. We classified three classes of drinkers: 'heavy drinkers' were those who reported alcohol consumption at or above the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council definition of hazardous/harmful levels (rates which differ for men and women); 'moderate drinkers' were those who reported that they did not drink alcohol at all.

- Religiosity: Previous research has found that religious affiliation has a strong association with marriage instability (see Mahoney et al. 2001). Similar to Hewitt, Baxter and Western (2005), we derived a measure of religiosity from an attitudinal question enquiring about the importance of religion, with responses on a scale of 'o' (not important) to '10' (very important). We classified religiosity as 'low' (scores 0–3), 'moderate' (scores 4–6), or 'high' (scores 7–10).
- ▶ Life satisfaction: We also examined the association between relationship dissolution and general life satisfaction, a general measure of wellbeing (Dear, Henderson & Korten 2002). The measure of satisfaction was based on an item which asked respondents to rate their 'satisfaction with their life in general' on a scale ranging from 'o' (totally dissatisfied) to '10' (totally satisfied). Our dummy-coded measure contrasted those who reported being 'satisfied with life' (scores above the mid-point -6-10-coded as '0') with those who were 'not satisfied with life' (scores 0-5-coded as '1').

Background factors

- **Parental divorce experience:** Extensive research has shown that experience of parental divorce or parental separation is associated with an increased likelihood of own marital dissolution (Amato 1996). We identified respondents who reported that their parents had divorced or separated.
- Total number of relationships: There is also evidence that higher order marriages are more likely to dissolve than first marriages (Lillard, Brien & Waite 1995). Given that we are considering couples in both marriage and de facto relationships, we computed a measure of 'total number of marriage-like relationships' as a combination of number of de facto relationships (including current) and number of marriages (including current). We coded this variable to represent '1', '2', or '3 or more' relationships.

Social circumstances

Education level: We utilise education level as a measure of social status and sociodemographic background (Fryers, Melzer & Jenkins 2003; Fryers et al. 2005). Social status is strongly associated with relationship dissolution (Bradbury & Norris 2005b). In addition, the combination of each partners' social (and financial) circumstances may be associated with subsequent separation. A woman with higher social status (educational attainment, occupation) has greater economic independence (or potential) and this may provide greater opportunity for her to support herself outside of marriage if the relationship is not satisfactory. Further, relationships in which women's social status is greater than their partner's are not consistent with the traditional gendered role specialisation within marriage and this itself may lead to greater interpersonal conflict within the marriage and marital instability (see Bumpass, Martin & Sweet 1991; Hewitt, Baxter & Western 2005).

We categorise three levels of highest education attainment: tertiary degree (Bachelor degree or higher) as reference category; completed secondary schooling, trade or diploma qualification; and incomplete secondary education.

Financial situation variables

The research by Bradbury and Norris (2005b) demonstrated an income gradient in marital disruption. Those in poorer immediate financial circumstances have a greater likelihood of separation/divorce than those in more advantageous financial situations. This could reflect the stressors placed on a relationship by financial difficulties, or could reflect the broader socioeconomic effects that select couples into marital instability (and which we try to explain with the measures of educational attainment). The following measures are included as potential economic correlates of separation.

- Labour force status: This variable is divided into three categories: employed (either full-time or part-time; the reference category); unemployed; and not in the labour force.
- **Financial hardship:** This variable was derived from a series of seven questions assessing financial hardship (for example, could not pay electricity, gas or telephone bills on time; not able to pay mortgage or rent

on time). Our previous research has shown that these items may load on a single factor. We developed a summary measure coding:

- no hardship ('o')
- one hardship ('1')
- two or more hardships ('2').
- Income support status: This variable was derived from questions inquiring about receipt of government benefits, pensions or allowances. This variable is coded as '1' if the respondent declared receiving income support payments at the time of interview.

Relationship characteristics

- Combined marital status: There is debate within the literature about the effect of prior cohabitation on marriage. Descriptive research has found that couples that cohabited prior to marriage were more likely to separate or divorce than those who did not cohabit (Karney & Bradbury 1995). However, more recent analysis has suggested that this effect may, in part, be cohort specific, with the effect less strong in later-born couples. Further, more sophisticated analysis has indicated that the effect is largely a selection effect, with rates of subsequent divorce/separation no longer significantly elevated for those married couples that cohabited once factors associated with selection into cohabitation are controlled (de Vaus, Qu & Western 2003; Lillard, Brien & Waite 1995). Given our analysis of married and de facto couples, we define three categories of marital status:
 - couples that are married and did not cohabit prior to marriage (the reference category)
 - married couples that cohabited prior to marriage
 - de facto couples.
- ▶ Total number of dependent children in the household: The presence of children is hypothesised to increase the stability of relationships (Wilson & Waddoups 2002). In this measure we consider the number of resident children (aged 0–14 years) within the household without differentiating whether they are shared child(ren) of both members of the couple or the child(ren) of only one adult. This variable is top-coded as '1', '2', or '3 or more' children.
- Age of youngest child: Previous research has found that the presence of young children reduces the risk of marriage breakdown (Waite & Lillard 1991). This categorical variable is coded to indicate the presence of pre-school aged children (aged o-4 years; reference category) and school age children (aged 5–14 years).
- Presence of stepchildren: The previous literature has identified the presence of stepchildren as being associated with marital instability (Karney & Bradbury 1995). We defined this variable at the individual level and it is coded as '1' if the household included children who are not the natural or adopted child of the respondent (that is, partner's children or own stepchildren) and 'o' (reference category) if all children are the respondents' natural or adopted children. It is possible, therefore, that one respondent in the household is coded as a step-parent (most commonly the man) while the other member of the couple is the natural/adopted parent of all children in the household (usually the woman).
- **Relationship duration:** Hewitt, Baxter and Western (2005) found that marital breakdown in Australia was greatest within the first five years of marriage. Our models include a variable coded as 'o' if relationship duration was more than five years and '1' if relationship duration was five years or less.
- **Relationship satisfaction:** Similar to the measure of overall satisfaction with life, a measure representing lack of relationship satisfaction was derived from an item which asked respondents to rate how satisfied they were with their relationship with their partner.

Variable	Values	Definitions/notes
Age (years)	17-75	Entered in all multivariate regressions
Poor physical functioning	'o' (PFI ≥60)	Not poor physical functioning (ref)
	ʻ1' (PFI <60)	Poor physical functioning
Poor mental health	'o' (MHI ≥ 50)	Not poor mental health (ref)
	ʻ1' (MHI <50)	Poor mental health
Smoking	ʻ0'	Non-smoker (ref)
	'1'	Current smoker
Drinking	ʻ0 '	Moderate drinkers (ref)
	'1'	Non-drinkers
	'2'	Heavy drinkers
Religiosity	'o' (o <r<3)< td=""><td>Low (ref)</td></r<3)<>	Low (ref)
	'1' (4 <r<6)< td=""><td>Moderate</td></r<6)<>	Moderate
	² 2' (7 <r<10)< td=""><td>High</td></r<10)<>	High
Life satisfaction	'0' (6 <ls<10)< td=""><td>Satisfied (ref)</td></ls<10)<>	Satisfied (ref)
	1 (0 <ls≤5)< td=""><td></td></ls≤5)<>	
Parental divorce	·0′	No (ref)
	1	
lotal number of relationships	·1·	Only current relationship (ref)
	2	2 relationships
Education loval	3 'o'	S of more relationships
	0 '1'	Secondary/diploma
	1 • 2'	Year 11 or less
Labour force status	ے '0'	Employed (ref)
	·1'	Unemployed
	·2'	Not in labour force
Financial hardship	ʻ0'	No hardship (ref)
·	'1'	1 hardship
	'2'	2 or more hardships
Income support status	' O '	No benefits (ref)
	'1'	Receives benefits
Combined marital status	' O '	Married, no prior cohabitation (ref)
	'1'	Married, prior cohabitation
	'2'	Currently de facto
Number of dependent children in	'1'	1 child (ref)
household	'2'	2 children
	' 3'	3 or more children
Age of youngest child	ʻ0'	Pre-school (ref)
	'1'	School (5–14)
Presence of stepchildren	ʻ0'	No (ref)
	·1′	Yes
Relationship duration	°0'	More than 5 years (ref)
	1	5 years or less
Relationship satisfaction	'0' (6 <rs<10)< td=""><td>Satisfied (ref)</td></rs<10)<>	Satisfied (ref)
	'1' (0 <rs≤5)< td=""><td>Not satisfied</td></rs≤5)<>	Not satisfied

Table 1: Summary of variables used in analysis

20 Social Policy Research Paper No. 37

6 Results

6.1 Descriptive statistics

Table 2 displays the Wave 1 characteristics of the individuals from couples that separated or remained intact over the subsequent two waves of the survey. Considering the personal characteristics of both men and women, those in couples that separated:

- were on average slightly younger
- had notably poorer mental health
- had much higher rates of smoking, parental divorce and dissatisfaction with life
- reported lower levels of religiosity
- were much more likely to report previous marriage-like relationships than those in couples that did not separate.

Those who separated were more likely to have:

- been unemployed (particularly men)
- experienced financial hardship
- received income support payments
- had shorter relationships
- been in de facto relationships
- had stepchildren
- reported relationship dissatisfaction.

In the next sections we test the magnitude of these differences between intact and separated couples, look at whether these are simply a function of other demographic differences between the groups, and consider the significance of these factors as predictors of subsequent separation.

	Male		Female		
	Intact couples	Separating couples	Intact couples	Separating couples	
	1,384	114	1,384	114	
Age (years)	0				
Mean	39.18	37.65	36.62	35.32	
Standard error	0.19	0.75	0.18	0.70	
Physical function (%)					
Poor functioning	8.9	14.0	7.2	13.2	
Mental health (%)					
Poor mental health	6.7	19.3	8.8	17.5	
Smoking (%)					
Smokers	25.4	47.7	18.8	44.7	
Drinking (%)					
Heavy drinkers	5.4	8.8	4.2	5.3	
Moderate drinkers	85.6	80.5	83.5	81.5	
Non-drinkers	9.0	10.6	12.3	13.2	
Life satisfaction (%)					
Dissatisfied	6.1	11.4	5.0	13.2	
Religiosity (%)					
High	26.8	21.1	35.9	23.7	
Moderate	22.0	17.5	25.5	28.9	
Low	51.2	61.4	38.6	47.4	
Parental divorce (%)	17.7	35.1	21.1	36.8	
No. of relationships (%)	-/ · /			<i>J</i> = = =	
1 relationship	73.7	46.0	74.5	48.7	
2 relationships	16.8	30.1	16.9	28.3	
3+ relationships	9.5	23.9	8.6	23.0	
Education level (%)					
Tertiary	24.6	14.9	23.8	18.4	
Secondary/diploma	54.4	57.0	47.4	48.3	
Vear 11 or less	21.0	28.1	28.8	33.3	
Labour force (%)					
Employed	01.0	84.2	62.8	58.8	
Linomployed	2.8	10.5	2.7	6.1	
Not in Jabour forco	5.3	5.3	34.5	35.1	
Hardship (%)					
No hardship	69.7	43.0	67.8	47.4	
No hardship	13.4	18.4	15.4	13.2	
i hardshing	16.8	38.6	16.8	39.5	
2 + nargsnips	0			(
Receiving income support (%)	8.4	21.1	16.9	24.6	
Marital status (%)	(2.2	10.2	12.1	21.1	
Married, no conabit	43.2	19.3	43·4 46.4	21.1 //1.2	
Married, prior cohabit	10.4	37.7	10.2	37.7	
Currently de facto	,	2		2	
Relationship duration (%)	40 -		<i>10</i> -		
5 years and less	12.7 87.2	36.0	12.7 87 2	36.0	
More than 5 years	07.3	04.0	0/.3	04.0	

Table 2: Baseline differences between men and women, in couples with children, that separate or remain intact

	Ма	Male		ale
	Intact couples	Separating couples	Intact couples	Separating couples
	1,384	114	1,384	114
Age of youngest child (%)				
Pre-school (o–4)	47.4	55.3	47.4	55.3
5-15	52.6	44.7	52.6	44.7
No. of children (%)				
One	32.7	38.6	32.7	38.6
Two	43.4	38.6	43.4	38.6
Three or more	23.9	22.8	23.9	22.8
Has stepchildren (%)	9.6	28.1	2.1	6.1
Relationship satisfaction (%)				
Dissatisfied	6.2	16.1	8.8	31.9

6.2 Evidence of spousal concordance

Firstly, simple logistic regression models and chi-square test of association were used to examine spousal concordance for the characteristics under investigation: that is, the likelihood that spouses have similar characteristics (see Table 3).

There was considerable statistical evidence of spouse similarity for the characteristics being studied. Respondents were three to four times more likely to report physical and mental health problems if their spouse/partner reported similar health problems. If one's partner was a smoker, the odds of being a smoker oneself were increased eight times. Having a partner who had experienced parental divorce was associated with increased odds (38 per cent) of having experienced parental divorce oneself compared to those whose partner had not experienced parental divorce. Respondents who had a partner who reported being not satisfied with life were 3.5 times more likely to be not satisfied themselves. Similarly and not surprisingly, if one's partner was not satisfied with the relationship the respondent's odds of not being satisfied were increased more than 11 times compared to when one's partner reported relationship satisfaction. Income support receipt was also very much a characteristic shared by both members of a couple.

Characteristic	Odds ratio
Poor physical health	4.36***
Poor mental health	3.02***
Smoking	8.03***
Dissatisfied with relationship	11.42***
Dissatisfied with life	3.52***
Receiving income support	17.45***
Experienced parental divorce	1.39*
	χ2 ^(a)
Drinking	316.9***
Labour force status	83.3***
Financial hardship	771.0***
No. of relationships	244.1***
Educational attainment	270.1***
Religiosity	412.1***

Table 3: Partner consistency assessed by logistic regression models and chi-square test of association

(a) Degrees of freedom for tests=4.

Note: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

χ2=chi-squared.

The results were similar for the multi-category variables. For example, there was a significant association (reflecting greater consistency in partner's responses than anticipated by chance) for alcohol consumption, education level, labour force status, financial hardship, previous relationships and religiosity.

These findings support the hypothesis of assortative mating and/or convergence of the partners' characteristics over time. The implications of this are potentially substantial. When one finds, for example, an effect of mental health on separation in analyses based on the individual, it is unclear whether this reflects an effect of the mental health problems of one partner or possibly both. Further, if spousal selection is based on these characteristics, it could be argued that selection of a partner is based on factors that actually increase the likelihood of separation. Thus, it is important to consider the influence of the characteristics of both partners and the combination of characteristics on marital stability.

6.3 Couple-level characteristics predicting marital instability

Table 4 presents the odds ratios associated with relationship dissolution, given that the specified characteristic is evident in at least one partner. These simple regression results show the global effect of each characteristic on separation without taking into consideration (or controlling for) any other variables (multivariate regressions are performed in a later stage of the analysis).

Characteristic evident in at least one partner	Odds ratio for separation
Poor physical function	1.99**
Poor mental health	2.79***
Smoking	3.72***
Drinking	
Heavy drinking	1.54
Abstainer	1.50
Religiosity	
Highly important	0.66*
Low importance	1.60*
Not satisfied with relationship	4.20***
Not satisfied with life	2.47***
Labour force status	
Unemployed	3.52***
Employed	0.48*
Any reported financial hardship	3.13***
Receiving income support	1.84**
Educational attainment	
Not completing secondary education	1.44 ^(a)
Parental divorce	3.08***
Previous marriage-like relationship	3.20***
Presence of stepchildren	2.87***

Table 4:	Results of univariate models showing odds ratio for separation given the presence of the characteristics
	in at least one partner

(a) p=0.063.

Note: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

The results presented above show that most of the variables being examined were associated with separation. Poor physical health almost doubled the odds of separation. Similarly, couples in which mental health problems were reported were approximately three times more likely to separate than couples that reported no mental health problems. Smoking was also strongly associated with relationship dissolution. Religiosity was found to be significantly associated with subsequent separation: for couples in which either or both partners declared strong religious affiliation the odds of separation were significantly reduced. A lack of satisfaction with life and with one's relationship were associated with separation. Unemployment and receipt of income support payments were associated with increased likelihood of separation. The experience of parental divorce was significantly associated with future separation, with the odds of separation three times greater for couples in which either or both partners had experienced parental divorce compared to couples in which neither partner reported parental divorce. The presence of stepchildren was also found to significantly increase the odds of separation.

Some characteristics examined were not associated with separation/divorce in the subsequent two waves of data. There was no effect of alcohol consumption: neither heavy drinking nor non-drinking was associated with the likelihood of future separation. Those couples in which at least one person had not completed secondary education were also somewhat more likely to separate, though this effect was only of marginal statistical significance (p=0.063).

There were other couple characteristics that were specifically measured at the level of the couple (for example, relationship duration, marital status). The relationship between these measures and subsequent separation are presented later in the report (Table 9).

In summary, these initial results were generally consistent with the previous literature. The findings demonstrated the relevance of the characteristics investigated as predictors of relationship dissolution. The next section, therefore, will consider the individual main and interaction effects of these characteristics for men and women.

6.4 Examining the characteristics of both members of couples

In this section we examine whether the characteristics of the man and/or the woman within each couple (main effects) and/or the combination or interaction of partners' characteristics are associated with subsequent separation. That is, is separation associated with the experience of these characteristics in either member of the couple, a particular member of the couple (man or woman), couples in which both partners experience the characteristic, or couples in which the partners are dissimilar?

We conducted these analyses in three steps:

- 1) examined the significance of each partner's characteristics on separation through simple univariate logistic regression models
- considered both partners' characteristics simultaneously and assessed the significance of the unique contribution of each partner (does the inclusion of the partner improve the fit of the model and are the individual measures significant)
- 3) tested the significance of the interaction between men and women's characteristics. The interaction term was included in the final model when its inclusion significantly improved the overall fit of the model above the model comprising the two main effects.

Using this stepped approach allowed us to establish the nature of the association between each of the characteristics and subsequent relationship dissolution. Where there was an association in the univariate results, we could ascertain whether the inclusion of data from the partner improved prediction or whether it accounted for the predictive power. This helped to identify the important variables to include in the full model and avoid redundant variables.

Poor physical functioning: Table 5 presents the results of the series of analyses, looking at the effect of poor physical health. Initially, separate analysis of data for men and women found that men who reported poor physical functioning had a somewhat elevated risk (though not significant) of experiencing marital disruption. However, couples in which the women reported poor physical functioning were significantly more likely to separate than couples in which women did not report poor physical functioning. The inclusion of spouse

physical functioning did not improve the fit of either model. When examining both partners' characteristics simultaneously, we found that the effect of both men's and women's physical functioning was reduced to non-significance. The inclusion of the interaction term did not significantly improve overall model fit.

Table 5:	Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between poor physical functioning and
	subsequent separation

Regression stage		Men Odds ratio	Women Odds ratio
(1) univariate	Poor physical function	1.67 ^(a)	1.94*
(2) combined	Does including spouse improve model fit?	No	No
	Poor physical function	1.50	1.78 ^(b)
(3)	Does interaction improve model fit?	Ν	lo

(a) p=0.07.

(b) p=0.056.

Note: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

Poor mental health: Univariate analyses found significant effects of both men's and women's mental health on subsequent separation. Men with mental health problems at Wave 1 were over three times more likely (odds ratio [OR]=3.3) to experience separation/divorce than men who did not report mental health problems. The risk for women was somewhat less than this (OR=2.2). The inclusion of spouse mental health improved the fit of both models. When considered together, the odds ratios from the univariate analyses were somewhat reduced (reflecting some common effect between partners), but both men's and women's mental health remained significant predictors of subsequent relationship instability. The interaction term was not significant and did not improve the fit of the model over that with the two main effects.

Smoking: Both men's and women's smoking status were associated with the likelihood of future separation (Table 6), with smokers having greater odds of separation than non-smokers and the effect being of greater magnitude for women. The inclusion of spouse smoking status improved the fit of both models, and in the multivariate model both main effects were reduced compared to the univariate results but remained significant. For analysis of smoking status, the inclusion of the interaction effect significantly improved overall model fit. Thus, the effect of smoking status depends on partner's smoking status. We will further investigate the nature of this smoking interaction in the next section.

Table 6: Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between smoking and subsequent separation

Regression stage		Men Odds ratio	Women Odds ratio
(1) univariate	Smoking	2.69***	3.54***
(2) combined	Does including spouse improve model fit?	Yes	Yes
	Smoking	1.77*	2.73***
(3)	Does interaction improve model fit?	Yes	*

Note: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

Drinking: Similar to the results from the analysis of couple characteristics, there was no relationship between either men's or women's alcohol consumption (abstainers, drinking at hazardous/harmful levels, or other) and future separation.

Religiosity: The univariate analyses showed that, for men, religiosity was not associated with subsequent separation, but that women's religiosity was associated with marital stability. Couples comprising women who reported high religiosity were significantly less likely to separate than couples in which women reported that religion was of moderate or low importance in their lives (OR=0.54). This pattern remained in the models that included data from both members of the couples.

Life satisfaction: Simple logistic regression models showed that, for men and women, not being satisfied with life was associated with an increased likelihood of separation, with the effect greater for women (OR=2.9) than for men (OR=2.0). The inclusion of spouse characteristics only improved the fit of the univariate model representing men's life satisfaction, providing further support of the relative importance of this variable for women. Consistent with this, the combined analysis found that only women's dissatisfaction remained a significant unique predictor of separation (OR=2.7).

Parental divorce: In accordance with previous research, we also found a significant association between parental divorce and separation (Table 7). The univariate results showed that couples where men had experienced parental divorce were 2.5 times more likely to separate, and couples where the women had experienced parental divorce were more than twice as likely to separate as couples where partners had not experienced parental divorce. Again, these significant effects remained in the combined analysis. The inclusion of spouse characteristics improved both of the models tested. Further, the interaction term was marginally significant and will be explored in the next section.

Regression stage		Men Odds ratio	Women Odds ratio
(1) univariate	Parental divorce	2.52***	2.19***
(2) combined	Does including spouse improve model fit?	Yes	Yes
	Parental divorce	2.42***	2.09***
(3)	Does interaction improve model fit?	Margin	al ^(a)

Table 7: Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between parental divorce and subsequent separation

(a) p=0.056.

Note: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

Total number of (marriage-like) relationships: Simple univariate logistic regression models showed that couples in which either partner had a previous relationship (that is, a marriage-like relationship prior to their current relationship) were at increased risk of separation, and that the magnitude of the effect was similar for men and women. Couples where either men or women had one previous marriage-like relationship were around 2.5 times more likely to separate. The odds of separation increased with the number of previous relationships. The inclusion of spouse characteristics improved the fit of each model and, while it was evident that the effects were somewhat attenuated in the combined model (because men and women with previous relationships were likely to re-partner with others in similar circumstances and, thus, there was overlap between the characteristics of both partners), all effects remained significant.

Educational attainment: Considering the effects of educational attainment separately for men and women, it was evident that couples where the male partners had less than a high school level of education were twice as likely to separate as couples in which men had a tertiary degree (Table 8). Couples where men had completed secondary schooling and/or had a diploma level degree also reported an elevated risk of marital dissolution in comparison to those with tertiary qualifications. There was, however, no effect of women's educational

attainment on rates of separation. The effect of men's education level remained significant in the combined model. Furthermore, the inclusion of the interaction terms marginally improved the overall fit of the model with one of the specific interaction terms highly significant. This will be examined in the next section.

Table 8:	Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between educational attainment and
	subsequent separation

Regression stage		Men Odds ratio	Women Odds ratio
(1)	Education attainment:		
univariate	Tertiary degree (ref) Secondary or diploma	1.72 ^(a)	1.32
	Year 11 or less	2.21*	1.49
(2) combined	Does including spouse improve model fit?	No	No
	Education attainment		
	Tertiary degree (ref) Secondary or diploma	1.66	1.09
	Year 11 or less	2.09*	1.13
(3)	Does interaction improve model fit?	Marg One highly sig	rinal ^(b) nificant term**

(a) p=0.052.

(b) p=0.07.

Note: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

Labour force status: The results of analysis of labour force status showed that there was a significant effect of men's unemployment on relationship dissolution. Couples in which men were unemployed were approximately four times more likely to separate than couples in which men were employed (OR=4.1), and this effect remained significant in the combined model (OR=3.8). While women's unemployment was a significant factor in the simple logistic regression (OR=2.5), it did not significantly contribute in the combined model. The inclusion of men's labour force status improved the fit of the model, whereas the inclusion of women's labour force status did not improve model fit. Thus, it seems that the labour force status of men accounts for the relationship between unemployment within the couple and subsequent separation. There was, however, no association between absence from the labour force for reasons other than unemployment and separation.

Hardship: Simple logistic regression models found that experience of financial hardship was associated with subsequent divorce/separation. Separation rates for couples in which men reported hardship were elevated compared to those where men reported no hardship (with a linear relationship between the number of hardships reported and risk of marital disruption). Couples in which women reported multiple hardships were also at increased risk of separation. While the inclusion of spouse financial hardship improved both models, the combined results demonstrated that only men's reported hardship was independently associated with subsequent separation.²

Income support status: Simple logistic regression models showed that both men's and women's receipt of income support benefits was associated with subsequent separation. However, similar to the financial hardship results, the combined regression models showed that only the effects for men were significant independent predictors of relationship dissolution. Given the very strong association between couples' income support status (see earlier discussion in 6.2), this suggests that, in general, it is men's status that captures the aspects of financial circumstances of couples that are most relevant to future separation.

Combined marital status: The next set of analyses involved data at the couple level, and the results are presented in Table 9. Simple logistic regression results showed that, compared to married couples who did not cohabit prior to marriage, married couples that reported pre-marital cohabitation were almost twice as likely to separate in the subsequent two years. Furthermore, those couples in a de facto relationship had a much higher risk of separation compared to married couples that had not cohabited.

Regression model		Couple Odds ratio
Α	Marital status	
	Married, no prior cohabitation (ref)	
	Married, prior cohabitation	1.83*
	Current de facto relationship	7.57***
В	Relationship duration	
	Relationship ≥ 5 years (ref)	3.83***
	Relationship < 5 years	
С	Number of children	
	One (ref)	
	Two	0.75
	Three or more	0.81
D	Age of youngest child	
	Less than 5 (reference)	
	Aged 5 years or greater	0.73

Table 9:	Results from logistic regression models reporting the association between separation and marital status
	(A), relationship duration (B), number of children (C) and age of youngest child (D)

Note: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

Relationship duration: This analysis also involved data at the couple level. The results showed that the odds of separation were almost four times greater for couples with relatively short relationships (less than five years) compared to those with longer relationships.

Number of children: There was no evidence of a relationship between number of children in a household and the risk of subsequent marital dissolution.

Age of youngest child: There was no significant difference in the risk of separation of couples whose youngest child was pre-school aged or older (school-aged).

Presence of stepchildren: This analysis focused on those individuals within couples who were step-parents: that is, they did not report themselves as the natural or adopted parent of one or more of their partner's children. Simple logistic regression models showed that the likelihood of separation was much greater for couples in which either men or women reported having stepchildren (ORs>3). The combined regression models showed that it was men with stepchildren that made the significant independent contribution to predicting subsequent separation (OR=3.5 versus 1.4 for women).

Relationship satisfaction: Simple logistic regression models showed that when either men or women reported not being satisfied with their relationship, the likelihood of later separation was significantly increased. However, the combined regression results showed that only women's lack of relationship satisfaction was a significant independent predictor of relationship dissolution (OR=4.3 versus 1.5 for men).

6.5 Exploring the interaction effects

A primary goal and one of the unique features of this analysis is to examine simultaneously how the characteristics of husbands and wives together predict subsequent relationship dissolution. The results reported in the previous section identified a number of significant interaction effects between men's and women's characteristics and the likelihood of subsequent divorce/separation: smoking status, experience of parental divorce, and education level. This section examines the nature of these interaction effects in more detail.

Smoking: Figure 1 presents the association between men's and women's smoking status and rates of separation. To facilitate interpretation, couples were classified into four groups based on the possible combinations of spouses' smoking status. The reference category was couples in which both partners were non-smokers (n=972). These couples were compared with couples in which the man but not the woman was a smoker (n=207), the woman but not the man was a smoker (n=114), and both partners were smokers (n=195).

As is evident from the figure, compared to the reference group, the odds of subsequent separation for couples in which only male partners were smokers were increased (OR=2.6, p<0.01). However, the effect of women's smoking status on separation was much stronger: couples in which women were smokers were over four times more likely to separate than non-smoking couples, with both odds ratios above 4 (p<0.001). The additive effect of male smoking status was minimal: whereas the odds ratio of separation for couples with only women smokers was 4.4, the odds ratio for couples in which both partners were smokers was 4.6. The results demonstrated that women's smoking status was more strongly associated with subsequent relationship dissolution. Further, the results demonstrated that the interaction effect evident for smoking status was not a consequence of the mismatch between partners' characteristics increasing incompatibility leading to greater risk of relationship dissolution. Rather, the interaction effect may represent effect compression or a ceiling effect.



Figure 1: Percentage of couples separating over two years as a function of men's and women's smoking status





Parental divorce: The interaction between the characteristics of the man's and woman's family of origin (considering the effect of parental divorce) on the rate of subsequent separation is presented in Figure 2. The figure shows that, compared to couples in which neither partner had experienced parental divorce, couples in which one partner reported parental separation had elevated rates of relationship dissolution and that this was similar regardless of gender of the partner experiencing parental divorce. While couples in which both partners experienced parental divorce had elevated rates of separation, the overall risk of separation in this group was less than what would be expected based on an additive combination of the two main effects. Again, the interaction effect for parental divorce as the reference category, the odds ratio for subsequent separation was 2.8 for couples in which only men had experienced parental separation, 2.5 for couples where only women experienced parental separation, and 3.5 for couples in which both partners had experienced parental separation. Bumpass, Martin and Sweet (1991) also found an unusual pattern of results when considering the effect of each partner's experience of parental divorce that was associated with marital disruption.

Education level disparity: The interaction between spouses' level of educational attainment on subsequent relationship dissolution is presented in Figure 3. While there was some evidence of a general effect of educational level (that is, greater rates of relationship dissolution associated with lower levels of educational attainment), the figure clearly demonstrates greater levels of separation for one particular category of couples: rates of separation were strikingly elevated for couples in which women had a tertiary level of education and men had not completed secondary school. Although the overall number of couples in such circumstances was small (n=25), this striking effect warrants further consideration. It is, for example, consistent with theories that women's financial independence or adoption of a non-traditional gendered role are factors associated with marriage instability (see Hewitt, Baxter & Western 2005).





Other elements of the results are consistent with such an interpretation. The lowest rate of separation was found among couples where both partners reported tertiary qualifications (n=196), consistent with the hypothesized socioeconomic gradient in marital instability (Bradbury & Norris 2005b). However, the other group with a similarly low rate of separation was couples in which the man had a tertiary qualification and woman had not completed high school (n=32). In this case, disparity in educational attainment is associated with greater marital stability. The disparity evident for these couples complies with gendered stereotypes in which men are the breadwinners, and women have less financial independence. This overall pattern of results replicates the findings of Bumpass, Martin and Sweet (1991), who reported that educational disparity inconsistent with patriarchal and traditional roles was associated with greater marital instability.

This analysis of educational attainment provided the only example in which the specific combination of partners' characteristics (and more specifically, the inconsistency in partner characteristics) was associated with increased relationship instability. In all other circumstances, the interaction effects did not contribute significantly above the main effects or (in the previous two examples) were circumstances in which there may have been a threshold effect. That is, the presence of the characteristic among either partner was associated with relationship instability, but there was no evidence that the effect was greater when both partners reported the characteristic.

6.6 Multivariate model

The results reported in the previous section showed that a range of factors were associated with subsequent divorce/separation, including personal characteristics such as mental and physical health, and health behaviours such as smoking. However, many of these individual factors are likely to be intercorrelated and/or represent the effect of common underlying factors. In this section, therefore, we examine the various measures together in a multivariate model. This enables us to establish, having controlled for other characteristics, which measures are independent predictors of subsequent separation. As described earlier, we considered five distinct blocks of variables: family background, financial circumstances, relationship characteristics,

social circumstances, and personal characteristics (including health and health behaviours). We built the model sequentially, adding each block of variables in turn. The order of block entry reflects a broad conceptual framework.

The selection of factors to include in the models was based in part on the results of the previous set of analyses. We included interaction terms where the previous models showed that there were interactive effects of the characteristics of both members of a couple. Similarly, where the previous results suggested considerable similarity between both members of a couple, such that the inclusion of data from both members would eliminate the significance of both effects, we operationalised the measure in another way.

The results of the five incremental models are presented in Table 10 and we discuss the results of each in turn.

Results from sequential logistic regression models, using odds ratios to represent the association between characteristics at the individual and couple level and subsequent separation

Characteristic	Level			Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Family background								
Age	Individual		Men's age	0.98	1.00	0.99	1.00	0.99
			Women's age	0.99	0.99	1.01	1.01	1.02
Parental divorce	Individual		Men's parental divorce	3.02***	2.94***	2.93***	2.95***	2.88***
			Women's parental divorce	2.23**	2.05**	2.00*	2.00*	2.09*
	Couple		Interaction (both partners)	0.32*	0.34*	0.26*	0.25**	0.25*
Number of relationships	Individual	Men	One—current (ref)					
			Тwo	2.18**	2.20**	1.82*	1.92*	1.82*
			Three or more	2.15*	1.89*	1.41	1.39	1.07
	Individual	Women	One-current (ref)					
			Two	1.91*	1.65	1.10	1.08	1.16
			Three or more	2.32**	1.95*	1.05	1.10	0.96
Financial characteristics								
Labour force status	Individual	Men	Employed (ref)					
			Unemployed		1.20	1.15	1.19	1.10
			Not in labour force		0.48	0.50	0.50	0.28*
	Individual	Women	Employed (ref)					
			Unemployed		1.19	1.12	1.10	0.81
			Not in labour force		0.48	0.89	0.87	0.78
Reported hardship	Individual	Men	No hardship (ref)					
			Less than 2 hardships		1.83	1.83	1.85	1.67
			2 or more hardships		1.91	1.60	1.50	1.18
	Individual	Women	No hardship (ref)					
			Less than 2 hardships		0.80	0.70	0.72	0.71
			2 or more hardships		1.41	1.22	1.22	1.17
Income support receipt	Individual	Men	Receiving income support		2.27*	2.26*	2.24*	1.86
	Individual	Women	Receiving income support		0.62	0.71	0.74	0.76
Relationship characteristics								
Relationship satisfaction	Individual	Men	Not satisfied			1.21	1.27	1.21
	Individual	Women	Not satisfied			4.14 ^{***}	4.31 ^{***}	4.20 ^{***}
Relationship status	Couple		Married, no cohabitation					
			Married, prior cohabitation			1.23	1.13	1.26
•			Current de facto			2.79**	2.62*	2.90*
Relationship duration	Couple		Relationship ≥5 years (ref)					
			Relationship <5 years			0.74	0.71	0.64
No. of children	Couple		One (ref)					
			Тwo			1.00	1.04	1.13
			Three or more			0.80	0.08	1.10

Table 10:

Characteristic	Level			Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Age of youngest child	Couple		Less than 5 years (ref)					
			Aged 5 years or greater			0.79	0.76	0.69
Stepchildren	Individual	Men	Stepchild(ren)			1.21	1.19	1.24
	Individual	Women	Stepchild(ren)			2.07	2.13	2.23
Social circumstances								
Educational attainment	Individual	Men	Tertiary degree (ref)					
			Secondary or diploma				0.91	0.85
			Not completed high school				0.74	0.56
	Individual	Women	Tertiary degree (ref)					
			Secondary or diploma				1.74	1.41
			Not completed high school				1.81	1.37
Education disparity	Couple		No disparity (ref)					
			Man low—woman high				10.20 ^{***}	9.95***
			Man high—woman low				0.24	0.17
Personal characteristics								
Mental health	Individual	Men	Poor mental health					1.95 ^(a)
	Individual	Women	Poor mental health					0.68
Physical health	Couple		Any poor physical functioning					1.81
Smoking	Couple		Both non-smokers (ref)					
			Only man smoker					1.77
			Only woman smoker					3.58***
			Both smokers					3.36***
Alcohol consumption	Individual	Men	Moderate (ref)					
			Abstainer					0.69
			Heavy drinker					0.71
	Individual	Women	Moderate (ref)					
			Abstainer					0.69
			Heavy drinker					0.38
Life satisfaction	Individual	Men	Not satisfied					0.88
	Individual	Women	Not satisfied					2.07 ^(b)
Religiosity	Individual	Men	Low religiosity (ref)					
			Moderate					0.82
			High					1.16
	Individual	Women	Low religiosity (ref)					
			Moderate					1.54
			High					0.97
(a) p=0.057.								
(b) p=0.054.								
Note: *n<0.05: **n<0.01: ***n<0	.001.							

35

Family background factors block: In addition to age, the block of variables in Model 1 included the total number of marriage-like relationships (an individual-level variable assessed for both men and women) and the main effects of, and interaction between, each partner's experience of parental divorce. The results from Model 1 were broadly consistent with the univariate results, suggesting there was little commonality/overlap between these factors. Both men's and women's experiences of parental divorce were a significant predictor, more than doubling the odds of separation. The significant interaction term representing the combination of men's and women's experience of subsequent separation, the rate was less than what would be expected based on additive risk associated with men and women separately. The results showed that couples in which either men or women reported multiple marriage-like relationships were also more likely to separate.

Financial characteristics block: Model 2 incorporated the block of measures assessing financial circumstances. This included three measures (labour force status, financial hardship, and income support receipt) that were assessed at the individual level (that is, measures for both men and women were included). The earlier results suggested that men's financial measures had stronger predictive power than women's measures and found that there was no evidence of interaction effects.

The inclusion of the financial characteristics block significantly improved the overall fit of the model (χ_2 of change in loglikelihood statistic=24.82, df=10, p<0.01). Within the new block of measures, only men's receipt of income support payments was significantly and independently associated with an increased risk of subsequent marital disruption (OR=2.27). These results suggest that men's income support receipt mediates the effects of labour force status and financial hardship evident in the univariate analyses. However, the inclusion of measures of financial circumstances did not substantially alter the specific results evident for the terms included in Model 1, with parental divorce and previous marriage-like relationships remaining significant predictors of relationship dissolution.

Relationship characteristics block: Model 3 included measures associated with the current relationship. There were two individual-level measures (relationship satisfaction and presence of stepchildren) and four couple-level measures (marital status [married without prior cohabitation, married with prior cohabitation, and de facto relationship], relationship duration, number of children, and age of youngest child). The inclusion of this block of variables significantly improved overall model fit (χ_2 of change in loglikelihood statistic=44.89, df=10, p<0.001).

The multivariate results showed that, similar to the univariate results, relationship status was significantly associated with subsequent separation. Those couples in de facto relationships were more likely to separate than those who were married. The only other independent predictor of relationship instability was women's relationship satisfaction. Those couples in which women reported that they were not satisfied with their relationship were over four times more likely to subsequently separate than those couples in which women were satisfied. The other measures significant in the univariate analyses (including presence of stepchildren and relationship duration) were not significant independent predictors of marital dissolution in this multivariate model.

The inclusion of this block of variables did somewhat reduce the magnitude of some of the terms in the previous model (for example, both parental divorce), but the overall pattern of results was fairly consistent across models.

Social circumstances block: Given the interaction that was evident between partners' educational attainment, this block of variables included measures of men's and women's educational attainment and a dummy-coded variable representing educational disparity. To operationalise educational disparity we defined three groups: couples in which men had much higher levels of educational attainment than women, couples in which women had much higher educational attainment than men, and couples in which partners had comparable levels of educational attainment (the reference category). Overall, the inclusion of this block of variables did not significantly improve overall model fit (χ_2 of change in loglikelihood statistic=11.70, df=6, p=0.069).

The results presented in Table 10 were consistent with the earlier results showing that couples in which women had much higher levels of educational attainment than their partners had much greater risk of separation/divorce. The main effects of men's and women's educational attainment were not significant. Once again, the results for the consistent elements of the model (that is, those terms included in the previous models) were not substantially altered by the inclusion of the block of variables related to social circumstances.

Personal characteristics block: The factors in the personal characteristics block included: poor mental health, poor physical functioning, smoking status, alcohol consumption, religiosity, and life satisfaction. The consideration of how these personal characteristics (particularly health and health behaviours) are related to subsequent marital dissolution is a key focus of this report. All but two of the variables were operationalised as individual-level measures, with variables representing both men's and women's characteristics included in the model. The previous analysis showed that men's and women's physical health was associated with relationship dissolution in univariate analyses (men marginally so), but that the inclusion of spouses' physical functioning added little to each model and reduced the contribution of each individual measure to non-significance. This pattern is consistent with the effect of poor physical functioning at the couple level. In addition, the earlier results demonstrated the importance of capturing the interaction between partners' smoking status and, therefore, the dummy-coded variables used in the interaction analysis were included in this multivariate model.

Considering the contribution of this block of personal characteristics, Model 5 was a significantly better fitting model than the previous model (χ_2 of change in loglikelihood statistic=32.00, df=16, p<0.01). The results also showed that a number of personal characteristics were independent and significant predictors of subsequent separation. Smoking was a strong correlate of later separation, with the smoking status of women a particularly strong predictor (reflected in the significance of couples in which only women were smokers and couples in which women and their partners were smokers). Men's mental health remained marginally significant after controlling for all other characteristics: couples in which men reported mental health problems were almost twice as likely to separate than couples in which men did not report poor mental health. Finally, couples in which women reported dissatisfaction with life were also marginally significantly more likely to separate.

6.7 Full model

Having reached the culmination of the model-building process, the final multivariate model has drawn together all the variables examined in the five blocks: personal characteristics, family background, financial circumstances, social circumstances, and relationship characteristics. To recap, the results showed that, after controlling for other factors, the measures that remained significant independent predictors of separation were smoking status, parental divorce, educational disparity, marital status (de facto relationships), women's relationship dissatisfaction, men's labour force status, and men's relationship history. As just discussed, the measures of men's mental health and women's dissatisfaction with life were also marginally significant.

The significant effect of smoking status in the full model demonstrated that the effect of men's smoking status was no longer significant, while women's smoking status remained a strong correlate of future separation. Compared to couples in which neither partner smoked, couples where the woman was a smoker (whether with a smoking or non-smoking partner) were over three times more likely to separate. One interpretation would be that this supports the notion that women's smoking status provides a strong marker of social and economic disadvantage and/or experience of adversity. Alternatively, it may reflect personality or other unobserved characteristics of women associated with smoking.

The effect of parental divorce indicated that couples in which either men or women had experienced parental divorce were significantly more likely to separate than couples in which neither partner had experienced parental divorce. However, these effects were not additive and couples in which both partners experienced

parental divorce had lower risk of subsequent separation that would be anticipated based on the sum of the individual effects. Note that the actual rate of separation was somewhat elevated among this group (neither: 4.6 per cent separate; men-only parental divorce: 13.5 per cent; women-only: 11.7 per cent; both men and women: 15.6 per cent), but was less than the increased risk for men and women combined. This provides some indication of a threshold effect, in that the apparently adverse effects of a particular characteristic at the individual level were similar regardless of whether experienced by men or women, or by one of both spouses.

Other evidence of an interaction between partners' characteristics was evident when educational disparity was considered. Consistent with the results reported earlier, the results in the full model continued to demonstrate that couples in which the woman reported tertiary qualifications but her partner had not completed secondary school were much more likely to separate compared to couples with consistent levels of educational attainment (odds ratio over 10 in the full model). Possible reasons for this effect were canvassed earlier, including suggestions that differences in educational attainment in this direction may reflect financial means and independence, or divergent attitudes and values.

As discussed in the theoretical section, we had expected to find an association between relationship dissatisfaction and marital stability (Karney & Bradbury 1995). This was one of the strongest predictors of subsequent separation/divorce in the full model. It is interesting that, in the earlier steps of model building, we found that the effect of men's relationship dissatisfaction was a weaker predictor of subsequent separation and was redundant when women's dissatisfaction was also considered. This indicates that women's views of the relationship seem to be the more important factor in predicting instability. This is consistent with evidence that women are more commonly the instigator of separation, perhaps because they are more oriented towards the interpersonal aspects of the relationship (Wolcott & Hughes 1999).

Other results in the final model were consistent with the previous literature. Couples in de facto relationships were more likely to separate than those who were married (with or without prior cohabitation; consider de Vaus, Qu & Western 2003). There were some effects that differed from previously established findings. For example, we found marital instability was greater for those couples in which male respondents reported previous marriage-like relationships, whereas Zimmer (2001) found that couples in which women reported previous marriages had greater rates of separation. Some results may be spurious, with no obvious explanation. For example, couples in which men reported not being in the labour force were significantly less likely to separate (though this effect was only significant in multivariate analysis and thus reflects the situation when all other factors examined in the model are held constant).

Finally, the marginally significant effects of men's mental health and women's life satisfaction are interesting. Both measures can be considered markers of a general construct of wellbeing, perhaps reflecting gender differences in the presentation and/or reporting of symptoms. That is, the results may be tapping the same underlying construct. It may be that this lack of wellbeing reflects the distress associated with the conflict, the process of separation, and/or broader adversity. When we repeated the analysis excluding the measure of the woman's dissatisfaction with the relationship, both the effect of the man's mental health problems (OR=2.18, p<0.05) and the woman's dissatisfaction with life (OR=2.67, p<0.05) were significant. These findings were consistent with the theoretical model developed by Karney and Bradbury (1995) in which the effects of enduring characteristics, interpersonal interactions and external stressors on marital stability are mediated through marital quality/satisfaction (which we operationalised as 'women's relationship dissatisfaction'). This indicates that relationship satisfaction could be considered an intermediate outcome measure, which also serves as a predictor of marital stability.

To conclude, we found consistent and strong evidence that women's smoking status, women's relationship dissatisfaction, either partner's experience of parental divorce, and educational disparity (with women having much higher levels of educational attainment than their partner) were independent predictors of subsequent separation. In terms of the broader aims of this project, we did therefore find evidence of the importance of personal characteristics and couple-level interactive effects in predicting relationship dissolution.

7 Discussion and policy implications

In this final section, we briefly review the analysis conducted and the main findings. We discuss the limitations of the research and outline future directions.

7.1 Reviewing the research methods and findings

Overall, the analyses reported in this paper sought to identify factors associated with marital instability using a prospective longitudinal design. The research was guided by the previous literature and we expected our research to confirm that the factors previously identified as predictive of relationship instability would demonstrate a similar pattern using the HILDA survey data. In general, this was what we found, with evidence of the predictive power of parental divorce, cohabitation prior to marriage, being in a de facto relationship, relationship dissatisfaction, low income or social status, and receipt of welfare payments.

The main innovation in terms of content within this study was the focus on health and health behaviours. We considered whether mental health problems, impaired physical functioning, hazardous levels of alcohol consumption, and smoking were associated with later divorce or separation. These characteristics (apart from mental health) have been rarely considered within the literature on divorce/marital disruption, and the findings from the previous literature have been mixed. Our analysis showed that a number of these measures were important factors.

Our analysis was also unique in that it considered data from both spouses. This proved important as a number of characteristics demonstrated gender-specific effects (for example, life satisfaction, smoking). Further, there was less evidence than expected of an effect of homogamy or of interactions between spouses' characteristics on relationship stability. The most striking example of the mismatch of partners' characteristics being associated with increased marital instability was for educational attainment, producing a pattern of results consistent with one previously reported paper in the international literature (Bumpass, Martin & Sweet 1991). There was also some evidence of interactions that reflected threshold effects of particular characteristics on marital stability (for example, parental divorce, smoking, physical health). In the case of physical health, the overlap between the effect for men and women was such that neither individual effect remained significant in the presence of the other. It may be, for example, that the effect of poor physical functioning on marital instability operates through the additional burden placed on the healthy spouse, regardless of gender.

After Dear, Henderson and Korten (2002), our stepped series of analyses initially examined the univariate associations between each of the characteristics being considered (for each partner separately) and subsequent marital disruption. This enabled assessment of whether there was a significant relationship between each variable and marital instability. This step was purely descriptive, and had no implications for interpreting causality. Secondly, we modelled the characteristics of both spouses simultaneously to identify whether the effect was present in both members of a couple, whether there was a gender-specific presentation of the effect and/or whether there were interactive effects. Finally, the multivariate analyses involved the combination of different characteristics into blocks of similar variables which were added as we built the full model.

The initial analyses confirmed the association between many characteristics and marital instability using an Australian sample. At the couple level, the simple univariate results showed marital stability was associated with physical health, mental health, smoking behaviour, relationship dissatisfaction, life dissatisfaction, receipt of income support, labour force status, financial hardship, educational attainment, religiosity, previous marriage-like relationships, parental divorce, cohabitation prior to marriage, being in a de facto relationship, and short relationship duration. We also found significant spousal concordance for these characteristics, demonstrating the importance of considering the effects for men and women separately and prompting questions about how the characteristics of spouses combine to influence relationship stability.

The most surprising effect across the analyses was the relationship between smoking status and marital instability. There has been little consideration of this effect in the previous literature. The final multivariate model showed that couples in which women were smokers (regardless of the male partner's smoking status) were at increased risk of divorce or separation. One hypothesis is that the measure of smoking status captures unobserved characteristics of those at risk of relationship dissolution (for example, personality). We consider it likely that smoking reflects disadvantage and adversity. Smoking, particularly among women, is a marker of material, social, cultural and regional disadvantage (Graham et al. 2006; Nystedt 2006; Rahkonen, Laaksonen & Karvonen 2005). Smoking may be normative behaviour within disadvantaged groups, and/or be a response to severe and insurmountable stressors from a variety of sources: economic, relationship and care giving. Graham et al. (2006) examined data on the socioeconomic life course of women. Whereas the traditional focus of analysis of social status is on formal measures such as natal family circumstances (often operationalised as father's occupation), one's own educational experience and opportunities, and employment achievements in adulthood, Graham et al. argued that understanding women's life chances and living standards also requires consideration of domestic socioeconomic life course factors. These are tied to the informal institutions of home and family, and reflect partnership and parenthood trajectories.

We also found a very strong effect of one type of educational disparity on marital instability. Compared to couples in which partners had similar levels of educational qualifications, those couples in which women reported tertiary qualifications and men reported not completing high school had a ten-fold greater risk of divorce/separation. This may be interpreted as a consequence of the woman's greater financial independence (whether actual or potential) and, thus, in the event of relationship difficulties, their capacity to support themselves outside of the marriage (Bumpass, Martin & Sweet 1991). Thus, women's tertiary qualifications reduce what Levinger (1976) would characterise as a significant barrier to leaving the relationship. However, marital instability is not elevated in couples where both partners have tertiary qualifications. Therefore, the effects for couples in which women have much higher levels of education than their partners may indicate that these couples experience greater conflict or dissatisfaction within the relationship as a consequence of differences in attitudes, values or background (rather than simply lesser barriers to leaving). The greater stability of couples in which the man has higher educational qualifications than the woman also suggests that the elevated levels of relationship instability are associated with the fact that these couples are not fulfilling the traditional gendered roles within marriage.

The analysis of health and health behaviours was a focus of this project. Interestingly, we found no evidence of an association between alcohol consumption (at the couple level, for either spouse or concordance or divergence in consumption between spouses) and relationship instability. The effect of physical functioning was present in the univariate analyses, though somewhat weaker than anticipated, and was not apparent in the multivariate model. Mental health (and life satisfaction, which we also considered an alternative measure of the same general construct) was strongly associated with separation/divorce, though the effects were significantly attenuated in the full model. Further analysis suggested that the effects on marital stability of men's poor mental health and women's dissatisfaction). This reinforces the importance of considering broader social factors, such as the relationship between spouses and relationship satisfaction, as potential determinants of health and wellbeing.

Parental divorce was also a strong predictor of subsequent divorce/separation (see also Amato 2000). However, the multivariate results suggested that a threshold effect also operated for this characteristic. Couples in which only men and, to a somewhat lesser extent, couples in which only women, had experienced parental divorce had elevated rates of marital disruption. The significant interaction effect indicated that couples in which both partners had experienced parental divorce had a comparable risk of divorce: that is, a level of risk that was less than the additive contribution of each of the separate effects evident for men and women. This suggests a ceiling on the effect. The presence of parental divorce increases a couple's risk, but there was not a dose-response (greater exposure did not further increase risk). In terms of policy implications, the results provide evidence to better understand the factors that may lead to marital separation. This can be a basis for the development of policies to strengthen relationships and families, and (ultimately) provide a more secure and positive environment to promote the development of children. To the extent that these factors are amenable to intervention (for example, financial circumstances and financial management skills), the findings can inform the development of programs of assistance (for example, income support policy, skills training). However, given the concerns about causal inference discussed throughout this report, we would advocate for a stronger evidence base and suggest further research be conducted in this area (see Section 7.2). The current research findings do provide evidence that could help improve the targeting of services and assistance—that is, to improve the identification of families at greater risk of separation and who may benefit from targeted early intervention. It can also provide evidence on which to tailor the types of support provided to at-risk families (that is, ensuring the type and manner of service delivery matches the needs and circumstances of the families/couples). These uses of the research findings are not contingent on causality. The results from this project also provide an indication of the types of information that may be particularly relevant to collect in a service delivery context (that is, the strongest risk factors for subsequent relationship dissolution).

The research highlights the importance of context (that is, the interaction and combination of characteristics at the couple level) and the need to move beyond a focus on the individual. This should also be the focus of policy development and service delivery responses. Our consideration and demonstration of the importance of health-related measures demonstrates the interrelationships and nexus between social policy, public health and health policy. Thus, within the domain of family and relationship services, the relevance of cross-portfolio approaches with multifaceted aims and outcomes is emphasised.

7.2 Limitations and future directions

Building on the current investigation, future research needs to focus on specific factors and build more sophisticated models that address mediation and moderation hypotheses. Greater emphasis also needs to be given to the identification and development of policy-relevant responses.

There were limitations with the analytic methods used. Our analysis of the longitudinal data was relatively modest and did not model or take account of the dynamic nature of the data. In part, this decision was driven by data limitations (the three waves of data provide only a small number of couples experiencing separation and limited opportunity to model change in circumstances preceding and following change in marital status).

We found evidence that the effects of mental health/wellbeing were mediated through other characteristics (relationship satisfaction). Intuitively, this is consistent with the vulnerability-stress-adaptation model of Karney and Bradbury (1995). Future research should explicitly build and test models such as Karney and Bradbury's, differentiating between underlying and mediating factors, and incorporating time not only as a link between prior characteristics and later outcomes, but also in a dynamic sense to model characteristics changing and adapting. Again, data limitations precluded the application of structural models at this time.

Another obvious response to the inability to differentiate selection and causation effects in the data is to increase the time between the measurement of predictors and the outcomes measures. Again, this is a limitation of the current data.

There were also measurement limitations. A number of the measures (for example, relationship dissatisfaction) were based on single items, leading to some uncertainty about psychometric properties, reliability and validity.

A way forward is to focus on increasing our understanding of some of the specific associations and pathways to marital instability. In our opinion, identification of the association between (women's) smoking status and marital instability is both the most unique contribution of this project, and potentially the most important. This warrants further investigation. Progress can be achieved by assessing the extent to which the relationship between smoking and separation/divorce can be explained by a more extensive range of socioeconomic measures and modelling dynamic and temporal relationships (how is change in smoking status related to change in marital status?). We do not propose a causal relationship. Rather we hypothesise that smoking status may be particularly useful and applicable within the policy context as a risk marker, and could be considered in screening/assessment processes. Further consideration of smoking status, social position/trajectory and marital instability may be a worthwhile focus for further research in this area.

Endnotes

- 1. Note that there were a small number of couples that separated and reconciled across the three waves. These couples have been included in our 'separated' category.
- 2. For discussion of the reporting of financial hardship with couples see Breunig et al. 2005.

44 Social Policy Research Paper No. 37

References

Amato, PR 1996, 'Explaining the intergenerational transmission of divorce', *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 628–40.

Amato, PR 2000, 'The consequences of divorce for adults and children', *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 1269–87.

Amato, PR & Previti, D 2003, 'People's reasons for divorcing: gender, social class, the life course, and adjustment', *Journal of Family Issues*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 602–26.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 2001, *Marriages and Divorces Australia 2000*, cat. no. 2210.0, ABS, Canberra.

Becker, GS 1973, 'A theory of marriage: part 1', Journal of Political Economy, vol. 81, pp. 813–46.

-- 1974, 'A theory of marriage: part 2', *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 82, pp. S11–S26.

Becker, GS, Landes, EM & Michael, RT 1977, 'Economic-analysis of marital instability', *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 85, no. 6, pp. 1141–87.

Bowlby, J 1969, Attachment and loss: Vol 1, Attachment, Basic Books, New York.

Bradbury, B & Norris, K 2005a, *Family dynamics in Australia: Fluid Families Project*, University of New South Wales, Sydney.

-- 2005b, 'Income and separation', *Journal of Sociology*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 425–46.

Bradbury, TN & Fincham, FD 1992, 'Attributions and behavior in marital interaction', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 613–28.

Breunig, R, Cobb-Clarke, DA, Gong, X & Venn, D 2005, *Disagreement in partners' reports of financial difficulty*, IZA Discussion Paper No. 1624, Bonn.

Bumpass, LL, Martin, TC & Sweet, JA 1991, 'The impact of family background and early marital factors on marital disruption', *Journal of Family Issues*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 22–42.

Burr, W 1982, 'Families under stress', in HI McCubbin, AE Cauble & JM Patterson (eds), *Family stress, coping, and social support*, Charles C Thomas, Springfield, pp. 5–25.

Butterworth, P & Berry, H 2004, 'Addressing mental health problems as a strategy to promote employment: an overview of interventions and approaches', *Australian Social Policy*, 2004, pp. 19–50.

Butterworth, P & Rodgers, B 2006, 'Concordance in the mental health of spouses: analysis of a large national household panel survey', *Psychological Medicine*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 685–97.

Chandola, T, Head, J & Bartley, M 2004, 'Socio-demographic predictors of quitting smoking: how important are household factors?', *Addiction*, vol. 99, pp. 770–77.

Daly, KA, Lund, EM, Harty, KC & Ersted, SA 1993, 'Factors associated with late smoking initiation in Minnesota women', *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 83, no. 9, pp. 1333–35.

de Vaus, D 2004, *Diversity and change in Australian families: statistical profiles*, Australian Institute of Family Studies, Melbourne.

de Vaus, D & Gray, M 2003, 'Family transitions among Australia's children', *Family Matters*, vol. 65 (Autumn), pp. 10–17.

--- 2004, 'The changing living arrangements of children, 1946–2001', *Journal of Family Studies*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–19.

de Vaus, D, Qu, L, & Weston, RE 2003, 'Premarital cohabitation and subsequent marital stability', *Family Matters*, vol. 65 (Autumn), pp. 34–39.

Dear, K, Henderson, S, & Korten, A 2002, 'Well-being in Australia—findings from the National Survey of Mental Health and Well-being', *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, vol. 37, no. 11, pp. 503–09.

Dubuis-Stadelmann, E, Fenton, BT, Ferrero, F & Preisig, M 2001, 'Spouse similarity for temperament, personality and psychiatric symptomatology', *Personality and Individual Differences*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 1095–112.

Fryers, T, Melzer, D & Jenkins, R 2003, 'Social inequalities and the common mental disorders—a systematic review of the evidence', *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 229–37.

Fryers, T, Melzer, D, Jenkins, R & Brugha, T 2005, 'The distribution of the common mental disorders: social inequalities in Europe', *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 14.

Fu, H & Goldman, N 1996, 'Incorporating health into models of marriage choice: demographic and sociological perspectives', *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, vol. 58, no. 3, p. 740.

-- 2000, 'The association between health-related behaviours and the risk of divorce in the USA', *Journal of Biosocial Science*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 63–88.

Galbaud du Fort, G, Kovess, V & Boivin, JF 1994, 'Spouse similarity for psychological distress and well-being —a population study', *Psychological Medicine*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 431–47.

Gottman, JM 1979, Marital interaction: experimental investigations, Academic Press, New York.

Graham, H 1995, 'Cigarette smelting—a light on gender and class-inequality in Britain', *Journal of Social Policy*, vol. 24, pp. 509–27.

Graham, H, Francis, B, Inskip, HM & Harman, J 2006, 'Socioeconomic lifecourse influences on women's smoking status in early adulthood', *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 228–33.

Gregory, RG & Klug, E 2003, *A picture book primer: welfare dependency and the dynamics of female lone parent spells*, Australian National University, Canberra.

Hazan, C & Shaver, P 1987, 'Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 511–24.

Hewitt, B, Baxter, J & Western, M 2005, 'Marriage breakdown in Australia: the social correlates of separation and divorce', *Journal of Sociology*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 163–83.

Hippisley-Cox, J, Coupland, C, Pringle, M, Crown, N & Hammersley, V 2002, 'Married couples' risk of same disease: cross sectional study', *British Medical Journal*, vol. 325, no. 7365, pp. 636–638A.

Homish, GG & Leonard, KE 2005, 'Spousal influence on smoking behaviors in a US community sample of newly married couples', *Social Science & Medicine*, vol. 61, no. 12, pp. 2557–67.

Hope, S, Rodgers, B & Power, C 1999, 'Marital status transitions and psychological distress: longitudinal evidence from a national population sample', *Psychological Medicine*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 381–89.

Joung, IMA, van de Mheen, HD, Stronks, K, van Poppel, FWA & Mackenbach, JP 1998, 'A longitudinal study of health selection in marital transitions', *Social Science & Medicine*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 425–35.

Karney, BR & Bradbury, TN 1995, 'The longitudinal course of marital quality and stability: a review of theory, method and research', *Psychological Bulletin*, vol. 118, no. 1, pp. 3–34.

Laaksonen, M, Rahkonen, O, Karvonen, S & Lahelma, E 2005, 'Socioeconomic status and smoking', *European Journal of Public Health*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 262–69.

Levinger, G 1965, 'Marital cohesiveness and dissolution: an integrative review', *Journal of Marriage and Family*, vol. 27, pp. 19–28.

-- 1976, 'A social psychological perspective on marital dissolution', *Journal of Social Issues*, vol. 32, pp. 21–47.

Lillard, LA, Brien, MJ & Waite, LJ 1995, 'Premarital cohabitation and subsequent marital dissolution: a matter of self-selection?', *Demography*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 437–57.

Mahoney, A, Pargament, KI, Tarakeshwar, N & Swank, AB 2001, 'Religion in the home in the 1980s and 1990s: a meta-analytic review and conceptual analysis of links between religion, marriage, and parenting', *Journal of Family Psychology*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 559–96.

Marshal, MP 2003, 'For better or for worse? The effects of alcohol use on marital functioning', *Clinical Psychology Review*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 959–97.

McCubbin, HI & Patterson, JM 1982, 'Family adaptation to crises', in HI McCubbin, AE Cauble & JM Patterson (eds), *Family stress, coping, and social support*, Charles C Thomas, Springfield, pp. 26–47.

McKee, SA, Maciejewski, PK, Falba, T & Mazure, CM 2003, 'Sex differences in the effects of stressful life events on changes in smoking status', *Addiction*, vol. 98, no. 6, pp. 847–55.

McLeod, JD 1995, 'Social and psychological bases of homogamy for common psychiatric-disorders', *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 201–14.

Merikangas, KR 1984, 'Divorce and assortative mating among depressed-patients', *American Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 141, no. 1, pp. 74–76.

Nystedt, P 2006, 'Marital life course events and smoking behaviour in Sweden 1980–2000', *Social Science & Medicine*, vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 1427–42.

Ostermann, J, Sloan, FA & Taylor, DH 2005, 'Heavy alcohol use and marital dissolution in the USA', *Social Science & Medicine*, vol. 61, no. 11, pp. 2304–16.

Power, C, Rodgers, B & Hope, S 1999, 'Heavy alcohol consumption and marital status: disentangling the relationship in a national study of young adults', *Addiction*, vol. 94, no. 10, p. 1477.

Rahkonen, O, Laaksonen, M & Karvonen, S 2005, 'The contribution of lone parenthood and economic difficulties to smoking', *Social Science & Medicine*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 211–16.

Severson, HH, Andrews, JA, Lichtenstein, Wall, M & Zoref, L 1995, 'Predictors of smoking during and after pregnancy—a survey of mothers of newborns', *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 23–28.

Siahpush, M & Borland, R 2001, 'Socio-demographic variations in smoking status among Australians aged ≥18: multivariate results from the 1995 National Health Survey', *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 438–42.

Silventoinen, K, Kaprio, J, Lahelma, E, Viken, RJ & Rose, RJ 2003, 'Assortative mating by body height and BMI: Finnish twins and their spouses', *American Journal of Human Biology*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 620–27.

Thiessen, D, Young, RK & Delgado, M 1997, 'Social pressures for assortative mating', *Personality and Individual Differences*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 157–64.

Umberson, D 1987, 'Family status and health behaviors: social control as a dimension of social integration', *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 306–19.

Wade, TJ & Pevalin, DJ 2004, 'Marital transitions and mental health', *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 155–70.

Waite, LJ & Lillard, LA 1991, 'Children and marital disruption', *American Journal of Sociology*, vol. 96, no. 4, pp. 930–53.

Watson, N 2005, *HILDA User Manual—Release 3.0*, Melbourne Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research, University of Melbourne.

Watson, N & Wooden, M 2002, *Assessing the quality of the HILDA Survey wave 1 data*, Melbourne Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research, University of Melbourne.

Wilson, SE 2002, 'The health capital of families: an investigation of the inter-spousal correlation in health status', *Social Science and Medicine*, vol. 55, no. 7, pp. 1157–72.

Wilson, SE & Waddoups, SL 2002, 'Good marriages gone bad: health mismatches as a cause of later-life marital dissolution', *Population Research and Policy Review*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 505–33.

Wolcott, I & Hughes, J 1999, *Towards understanding the reasons for divorce*, Working Paper No. 20, Australian Institute of Family Studies, Melbourne.

Zimmer, M 2001, 'Explaining marital dissolution: the role of spouses' traits', *Social Science Quarterly*, vol. 82, no. 3, pp. 464–77.

Social Policy Research Papers

- The Australian system of social protection—an overview Peter Whiteford (February 2000)
- 2. *Parents, the labour force and social security* Karen Wilson, Jocelyn Pech and Kylee Bates (1999)
- 3. *Estimates of the costs of children in Australian families, 1993–94* National Centre for Social and Economic Modelling (March 1999)
- 4. Social policy directions across the OECD region: reflections on a decade David W Kalisch (February 2000)
- 5. *Structural ageing, labour market adjustment and the tax/transfer system* David Ingles (May 2000)
- 6. *Trends in the incomes and living standards of older people in Australia* Peter Whiteford and Kim Bond (November 2000)
- 7. Updating Australian budget standards costs of children estimates Paul Henman and Macquarie University (January 2001)
- 8. Social indicators for regional Australia J Rob Bray (January 2001)
- 9. *Means-tested benefits, incentives and earnings distributions* John Creedy and Rosanna Scutella (January 2001)
- 10. *The duration of unemployment benefit spells: a comparison of Indigenous and non-Indigenous persons* Thorsten Stromback and Mike Dockery (June 2001)
- 11. *A meta-analysis of the impact of community-based prevention and early intervention action* Erin Gauntlett, Richard Hugman, Peter Kenyon and Pauline Logan (June 2001)
- 12. *How do income support recipients engage with the labour market?* Paul Flatau and Mike Dockery (June 2001)
- 13. *The policy-maker's guide to population ageing: key concepts and issues* Natalie Jackson (June 2001)
- 14. The dynamics of participating in Parenting Payment (Single) and the Sole Parent Pension Garry Barrett (July 2001)
- 15. Jobs in a new labour market: changes in type and distribution Alan Jordan (August 2001)
- 16. *Cost-benefit analysis of portability policy* Kruno Kukoc and Norbert Zmijewski (October 2001)
- 17. Some issues in home ownership William Mudd, Habtemariam Tesfaghiorghis and J Rob Bray (October 2001)
- 18. *The impact of social policy initiatives on labour supply incentives: a review of the literature* Guyonne Kalb (February 2003)
- 19. *Patterns of economic and social participation among FaCS customers* Peter Saunders, Judith Brown and Tony Eardley (April 2003)

- 20. *Child poverty: a review* Bruce Bradbury (November 2003)
- 21. Estimating the prevalence of mental disorders among income support recipients: approach, validity and findings Peter Butterworth (October 2003)
- 22. *Men's uptake of family-friendly employment provisions* Michael Bittman, Sonia Hoffman and Denise Thompson (April 2004)
- 23. Household monies and decision-making Saba Waseem (June 2004)
- 24. Understanding and improving data quality relating to low-income households David Johnson and Rosanna Scutella (April 2005)
- 25. *Effects of child care demands and policies on household labour supply in Australia* Denise Doiron and Guyonne Kalb (September 2005)
- 26. *Communities, social capital and public policy: literature review* David Johnson, Bruce Headey and Ben Jensen (September 2005)
- 27. The causes of changes in the distribution of family income in Australia, 1982 to 1997–98 David Johnson and Roger Wilkins (March 2006)
- 28. *Exploring the economic and social value of present patterns of volunteering in Australia* Michael Bittman and Kimberly Fisher (September 2006)
- 29. Income poverty, subjective poverty and financial stress Gary N Marks (June 2007)
- 30. *Mothers and fathers with young children: paid employment, caring and wellbeing* Jennifer Baxter, Matthew Gray, Michael Alexander, Lyndall Strazdins and Michael Bittman (July 2007)
- 31. *Intergenerational reliance on income support: psychosocial factors and their measurement* Helen Berry, Emma George, Peter Butterworth, Bryan Rodgers and Tanya Caldwell (July 2007)
- 32. *Contemporary Australian archetypes: different people, different needs* Helen Berry, Peter Butterworth, Tanya Caldwell and Bryan Rodgers (March 2008)
- 33. The structure and distribution of household wealth in Australia: cohort differences and retirement issues Bruce Headey, Diana Warren and Mark Wooden (March 2008)
- 34. *Parenting and families in Australia* Stephen R Zubrick, Grant J Smith, Jan M Nicholson, Ann V Sanson, Tanyana A Jackiewicz and the LSAC Research Consortium (June 2008)
- 35. *Marriage breakdown in Australia: social correlates, gender and initiator status* Belinda Hewitt (June 2008)
- 36. How well are Australian infants and children aged 4 to 5 years doing?
 Melissa Wake, Ann Sanson, Donna Berthelsen, Pollyanna Hardy, Sebastian Misson, Katherine Smith, Judy Ungerer and the LSAC Research Consortium (September 2008)